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Certain forward-looking statements

Certain statements contained in this document, includ-

ing without limitation, those concerning the economic

outlook for the gold mining industry, expectations

regarding gold prices and production, the completion

and commencement of commercial operations of cer-

tain of AngloGold’s exploration and production proj-

ects, and its liquidity and capital resources and expen-

diture, contain certain forward-looking statements

regarding AngloGold’s operations, economic perform-

ance and financial condition. Although AngloGold

believes that the expectations reflected in such for-

ward-looking statements are reasonable, no assurance

can be given that such expectations will prove to have

been correct. Accordingly, results could differ material-

ly from those set out in the forward-looking statements

as a result of, among other factors, changes in eco-

nomic and market conditions, success of business and

operating initiatives, changes in the regulatory environ-

ment and other government actions, fluctuations in gold

prices and exchange rates, and business and opera-

tional risk management.

Throughout this document, $ refers to US dollars,

unless otherwise stated.

Mining geologist Narelle Wolfe works

at Union Reef mine in Australia,

part of Acacia Resources, acquired by

AngloGold in December 1999,

extending its operations into a key

gold mining region.

Jewellery featured throughout this report appears

courtesy of AngloGold’s 1999 collections:

Riches of Africa

Swarnanjali

Millennium Gold for Eternity

Across all borders
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Formed in June 1998 through

a merger of the gold interests of

Anglo American and its associated

companies, South African-based

AngloGold is listed on the Johannes-

burg (ANG), London (ANO LN),

New York (AU) and Australian (AGG)

stock exchanges and the Brussels

(ANG BB) and Paris (VA FP) bourses.

Its market capitalisation as at

31 December 1999 was R33.8 billion

($5.6 billion), with some 107 million

ordinary shares in issue.

AngloGold’s production base

spans four continents, with a mixture

of underground and open-pit opera-

tions in Argentina, Australia, Brazil,

Mali, Namibia, South Africa and the

United States of America. Its worldwide

exploration programme encompasses

13 countries on four continents.

AngloGold holds gold reserves

of 107 million ounces and resources

of 365 million ounces.

AngloGold enhances shareholder

AngloGold is the world's largest gold producer, with

annual production of some 7.5 million ounces. Its

commitment to developing the market for gold is evi-

dence of the company’s faith in its product.
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Highlights 
for 1999

The purchase of Acacia Resources,

representing another step towards becoming a truly

global gold company. The acquisition of Acacia will

increase AngloGold’s gold production by half a million ounces

a year and open-pit and surface gold production to 23 per cent.

The successful integration of Minorco’s North and

South American operations. During the year these operations

performed better than expected.

Exploration now being undertaken in 13 countries

and on four continents.

Listing on the Australian Stock Exchange,

providing a foothold in the Australasian investment market and

the ability to trade AngloGold shares 24 hours a day.

The successful launch of AngloGold’s international

marketing initiatives, with three jewellery collections

created during the year.

Greater clarity on the role of central banks in the gold

market following the intervention of the industry.



During 1999, AngloGold continued to

demonstrate that investors can earn good

returns from gold. Returns on capital

employed and shareholders’ equity of

12 per cent and 15 per cent respectively

indicate that investing in gold can be

rewarding, even when the price is at two-

decade lows. Headline earnings (before

the deferred tax rate adjustment) of

R1.9 billion, or $325 million, were up

30 per cent on 1998. The total dividend

of R20 per share, or $3.28, provides

a yield of 6.3 per cent at the year end

share price of R316.60 ($51.44).

The major transaction of the year

was the acquisition of Australian gold

producer, Acacia Resources. With

Acacia’s production included,

AngloGold now produces 1.7 million

ounces annually from open-pit or

shallow mining, significantly changing

the company’s historic profile as a

deep-level, underground producer.

Looking to the future, sentiment in gold

markets is much more positive than it has

been for a number of years. However,

wealth creation for AngloGold shareholders

cannot turn on price sentiment alone.

We will continue our ambitious

plans to modernise deep-level gold

production in South Africa and to this

end will spend some R1.5 billion

($250 million) this year on new infrastruc-

ture to turn to account some 25 million

ounces at a projected average cash

cost of $180 per ounce, compared to

the average cash cost of South African

ounces last year of $225 per ounce.

We will be equally energetic in the

pursuit of profitable production ounces

from open-pit and shallow mining

sources outside of South Africa. This

will further enhance the company’s

production risk profile.

Both through its membership of the

World Gold Council and in its own right,

AngloGold will seek to broaden and

deepen gold markets in Asia and

elsewhere. Gold is a product purchased

by more than 800 million consumers each

year, both for its intrinsic qualities and as

a store of value. We continue to believe

that gold producers have neglected

markets and customers for far too long.

We hope to have some retail and

manufacturing initiatives underway

this year that will help reposition gold

as a 21st century product.

In a world of global capital markets

where, increasingly, shareholders have

unlimited options with regard to

investment, gold must compete with

all other categories of investment. This

imperative would suggest that further

consolidation is likely to occur in the gold

mining industry worldwide, much of which

is fragmented and regionally focused at

present. In this context, AngloGold will

continue to seek opportunities to unlock

additional value for its shareholders

through value-enhancing consolidation,

and to position itself as the gold

investment opportunity of first choice.

Important progress has been

achieved in 1999 in the area of safety,

especially in the South African
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Letter from the 
chairman and the chief executive officer



Integration into AngloGold

Mike Ostenson is a geologist at Jerritt

Canyon in North America working on

the Saval South extension shaft. In its

first year as part of AngloGold the

North American operations

performed beyond expectations.
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operations where both fatal and

lost time accidents were reduced

significantly. There is still a long way

to go, and the company seeks

international best practice in this,

and all other areas of its business.

AngloGold intends to pilot a rural

healthcare scheme for its southern

African employees and their families

this year, and is implementing a

comprehensive strategy in response

to the AIDS pandemic in this region.

Policies to achieve best practice with

regard to environmental management

and the broader concept of sustainable

development are also being put in place

across the company’s operations on the

four continents where it produces gold.

Tim Wadeson, who served as an

AngloGold director with characteristic

enthusiasm since the company’s inception,

resigned from the board at the end of

1999. We record our gratitude to him and

welcome Bill Nairn as his replacement. 

Bill was formerly chief executive at JCI

and is now technical director of Anglo

American Corporation.

Nicky Oppenheimer

Chairman

Bobby Godsell

Chief Executive Officer 9 March 2000

Operations
Boddington*
Cerro Vanguardia*
Cripple Creek and Victor*
Jerritt Canyon
Morro Velho
Navachab
Pine Creek
Sadiola*
Serra Grande*
South Africa 
Sunrise Dam
Tanami*

*Joint venture

Exploration projects
Alaska
Argentina
Australia
Brazil
Canada
Colombia
Ecuador
Mali
Peru
Senegal
South Africa
Tanzania
USA

Market development
China
Dubai
Europe
Hong Kong
India
Indonesia
Macau
Malaysia
Singapore
South Africa
South Korea
Taiwan
Thailand
USA
Vietnam



Competing in global markets

Pam Mongoato, of AngloGold’s Corporate

Communications Department in

Johannesburg, is involved in investor and

media relations. In a world of global

capital markets, where shareholders have

increasingly unlimited options, gold

must compete with all other categories

of investment.



Summary of group results 
Rand/Metric

Underground operations
Area mined – m2 – 000 -9 3,880 4,275
Tonnes milled – 000 – reef -5 21,055 22,155

– waste 169 649 241
– total -3 21,704 22,396

Yield – g/t – reef 2 8.31 8.16
– waste -8 0.81 0.88
– average – 8.09 8.08

Gold produced – kg – reef -3 174,994 180,831
– waste 149 527 212
– total -3 175,521 181,043

Productivity
g/employee – target 28 222 174

– actual 14 210 184
m2/employee (South African operations) – target 7 4.62 4.31

– actual 3 4.21 4.07

Surface and dump reclamation
Tonnes treated – 000 -5 54,354 57,511
Yield – g/t – 0.30 0.30
Gold produced – kg -5 16,165 17,025

Open-pit operations
Tonnes mined – 000 536 47,880 7,527
Stripping ratio – t(mined-treated)/t treated 54 2.51 1.63
Tonnes treated – 000 376 13,630 2,863
Yield – g/t -32 1.72 2.54
Gold produced – kg 222 23,480 7,281

Total
Gold produced – kg 5 215,166 205,349
Revenue – R/kg sold 5 61,830 58,830
Cash costs – R/kg produced 4 41,712 39,944
Total costs – R/kg produced 4 47,842 46,060

Financial results (R million)
Revenue 9 13,473.1 12,312.0
Cost of sales 7 10,385.6 9,703.5

Operating profit 18 3,087.5 2,608.5
Corporate and administration costs -41 161.4 226.8
Market development costs 64 90.6 55.2
Research and development costs 58 42.7 27.1
Exploration costs 41 286.8 203.5
Income from associates -84 43.2 267.5
Other income – net 279 153.9 40.6

Profit before taxation 12 2,703.1 2,404.0
Taxation -67 227.7 693.5

Profit after taxation 45 2,475.4 1,710.5
Profit on sale of associate 100 543.2 – 
Amortisation of goodwill 100 335.8 – 
Minority interest 100 28.9 –

Net earnings 55 2,653.9 1,710.5

Earnings – basic – cents per share 54 2,695 1,748
– headline – cents per share 58 2,485 1,568

Dividends – cents per share 29 2,000 1,550
– R million 36 2,058.9 1,515.3

Capital expenditure – mining direct 40 1,254.6 894.2
– other 40 90.6 64.6
– recoupments -96 (15.0) (402.8)

Net capital expenditure 139 1,330.2 556.0

Percentage

change

1999/1998 1999 1998
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Underground operations
Area mined – ft2 – 000 -9 41,764 46,026
Tons milled – 000 – reef -5 23,209 24,422

– waste 170 715 265
– total -3 23,924 24,687

Yield – oz/t – reef 2 0.242 0.238
– waste -8 0.024 0.026
– average – 0.236 0.236

Gold produced – oz (000) – reef -3 5,626 5,814
– waste 143 17 7
– total -3 5,643 5,821

Productivity
oz/employee – target 28 7.14 5.59

– actual 14 6.75 5.92

Surface and dump reclamation
Tons treated – 000 -5 59,915 63,395
Yield – oz/t – 0.009 0.009
Gold produced – oz (000) -5 520 547

Open-pit operations
Tons mined – 000 536 52,779 8,297
Stripping ratio – t(mined-treated)/t treated 54 2.51 1.63
Tons treated – 000 376 15,024 3,156
Yield – oz/t -32 0.050 0.074
Gold produced – oz (000) 223 755 234

Total
Gold produced – oz (000) 5 6,918 6,602
Revenue – $/oz sold -5 315 333
Cash costs – $/ounce produced -6 212 225
Total costs – $/ounce produced -6 244 259

Financial results ($ million)
Revenue -2 2,205.2 2,240.6
Cost of sales -4 1,699.9 1,771.6

Operating profit 8 505.3 469.0
Corporate and administration costs -47 26.4 41.5
Market development costs 48 14.8 10.0
Research and development costs 49 7.0 4.7
Exploration costs 27 46.9 36.8
Income from associates -86 7.1 50.8
Other income – net 45 25.2 17.4

Profit before taxation – 442.5 444.2
Taxation -71 37.2 126.7

Profit after taxation 28 405.3 317.5
Profit on sale of associate 100 88.7 – 
Amortisation of goodwill 100 55.1 – 
Minority interest 100 4.7 – 

Net earnings 37 434.2 317.5

Earnings – basic – cents per share 36 441 324
– headline – cents per share 44 407 283

Dividends – cents per share 24 328 264
– $ million 31 337.4 257.7

Capital expenditure – mining direct 26 205.4 162.4
– other 29 14.8 11.5
– recoupments -96 (2.4) (73.2)

Net capital expenditure 116 217.8 100.7

Percentage

change

1999/1998 1999 1998
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Summary of group results 
Dollar/Imperial



During the year:

After an extended period of negative

attitudes towards the metal by specu-

lators, the announcement in May of

the United Kingdom's intention to sell

415 tonnes out of 715 tonnes of official

reserves of gold by public auction

caused widespread selling. This drove

the price of the metal to 20-year lows of

around $250 per ounce during the third

quarter of 1999. Negative sentiments

were reinforced by expectations of

further sales by the official sector,

particularly from Switzerland and

the IMF. The pressure on the market

was removed only by a combination of

private sector protest over the official

sector's actions, and by the concern felt

amongst many major gold holders in

the official sector about the prevailing

negative speculation over official

gold sales.

In early September, the IMF

announced that it had agreed on a

method of funding part of its debt relief

package for heavily indebted poor

countries from the gold reserves of the

IMF without the actual sale of the metal.

In late September, members of the

European Central Bank, supported by

Switzerland and the United Kingdom,

announced a ceiling of 2,000 tonnes

of gold sales and no increases in

gold lending over the next five years.

These steps were sufficient to restore

confidence to the market, and the price

recovered sharply to over $330 per

ounce during the fourth quarter of 1999,

finishing the year in a range between

$280 and $290 per ounce.

The sharp rise in the gold price had

a number of consequences. There was

a swift fall in physical demand from

important developing markets for the

metal, particularly India. With the return

to a more stable price, demand

recovered, and the final demand figures

for gold for the year as a whole showed

a continued encouraging trend.

Not anticipated were the credit

difficulties experienced by a number of

gold mining companies with large and

leveraged gold price hedge positions in

proportion to their production of gold.

These difficulties have provided a lesson

to all participants in the gold forward

market, and it is likely that gold price

hedging activities by gold producers

going forward will be undertaken with a

greater awareness of price and volatility

risks than has perhaps been the case in

the recent past.
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in gold
Renewed interest

The gold market in 1999 was dominated by

activities of central banks and the International

Monetary Fund (IMF).



In 1999, the market saw a range

of almost $90 per ounce between the

recorded high of $338 per ounce early

in October and the low of $252 seen in

late August. The average spot price of

gold of $278 per ounce was below the

average of $285 in 1998. However, at

year end the price closed in a stable

range around $290 per ounce.

The currency markets for the

countries in which AngloGold sources

its production were considerably more

stable than the gold market, except in

Brazil where the real depreciated

significantly against the dollar. The rand

traded around a mean of R6.10 to the

US dollar in a range largely between

R5.95 and R6.30. The average

exchange rate of R6.11 to the US dollar

compared with R5.53 in 1998 offered a

small price advantage to South African

gold producers, and the average local

price of R54,711 per kilogram for 1999

was some five per cent higher than the

price in 1998.
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South Africa

AngloGold’s South African underground

operations comprise 13 mines which are

located in three geographical areas –

Vaal River near the town of Orkney in

North West Province, West Wits near

the town of Carletonville straddling the

Gauteng and North West provinces, and

the Free State located in the Free State

Province around the city of Welkom.

The surface metallurgical operation,

Ergo, is located in Gauteng Province.

1999 saw the integration into AngloGold of the

Minorco assets in North and South America,

restructuring of the South Africa division, and the

purchase of Acacia Resources, thereby expanding

globally to 25 operations in seven countries.
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Tonnes Average Gold Cash Remaining

treated grade production costs life of mine

recovered 1999 1999

Operation (million) (g/t) (000 kg) (000 oz) (R/kg) ($/oz) (years)

Vaal River 

Great Noligwa 2.4 12.8 31.1 1,001.1 30,000 153 19

Kopanang 2.1 7.7 18.3 523.2 42,700 217 14

Tau Lekoa 2.0 5.0 9.5 305.2 48,100 245 14

Moab Khotsong* 20

West Wits 

Deelkraal 1.3 4.7 6.0 192.9 60,000 306 4

Elandsrand 1.8 8.0 13.7 438.9 48,600 247 17

Mponeng 1.6 9.0 13.7 440.5 47,000 239 16

Savuka 1.1 7.1 8.0 254.7 57,300 292 4

TauTona 1.7 11.4 19.8 638.0 33,600 171 6

Free State 

Bambanani 2.0 7.7 15.3 492.2 49,900 254 11

Joel 1.4 5.7 7.8 251.3 48,600 247 13

Matjhabeng 1.6 7.2 11.2 360.1 63,900 325 4

Tshepong 1.3 8.0 10.2 327.6 47,400 241 17

Ergo 45.9 0.2 10.5 340.3 46,000 234 5

* Moab Khotsong is a new mine in its development phase. The mine is expected to commence production in
2003 and attain full production of 1.6 million tonnes of ore treated per annum by 2006. Life of mine cash
costs are expected to be $130 per ounce.

A year of worldwide
expansion and consolidation



Productivity improvements

James Mahumane is responsible for

lamproom maintenance at South Africa’s

Kopanang mine. AngloGold’s South

African operations saw improvements

in both value and volume efficiencies,

despite a decrease in gold production

during the year.
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During the year:

Gold production from the South African

operations decreased by 10 per cent

in 1999 to 178.7 tonnes (5.7 million

ounces) against a planned reduction

of six per cent. Nonetheless, there were

a number of operational highlights

including an improvement in safety and

health performance, largely due to the

adoption of a zero tolerance approach

to sub-standard conditions and

operating procedures. There was

a modest increase in productivity,

despite the reduction in production.

Great Noligwa, Kopanang, Tau

Lekoa, Mponeng, Tshepong and Ergo

performed very well, exceeding targets.

Significant productivity improvements

were achieved at Tau Lekoa (38 per cent),

Kopanang (16 per cent) and Tshepong

(14 per cent) as a result of team-based

training and other innovative initiatives. 

Progress in introducing new

technology to improve productivity was

made at Elandsrand, Joel, Kopanang

and Great Noligwa. Experience gained

at these operations will be valuable in

extending these developments across

other operations.

An earthquake at Matjhabeng in April

severely damaged the Eland shaft. Repairs

were completed ahead of schedule in the

third quarter and the shaft returned to full

production in the fourth quarter. However,

build-up to full production took longer than

anticipated.

Underground fires at Bambanani

affected production in both the third

and fourth quarters.

Flooding at Deelkraal in the first

quarter resulted in the mine having

a poor start to the year.

Failures in infrastructure at TauTona

hampered production during the year. 

Damage to the tertiary shaft from

a seismic event at Savuka in late 1998

affected production performance

in 1999.

Good progress was made with four

major capital projects at a cost of

R700 million ($117 million) – at Moab

Khotsong (Vaal River), the Mponeng

and Elandsrand deepening projects

(West Wits) and the Taung North shaft

(Joel – Free State). Moab Khotsong is

a new mine while the other projects will

extend the lives of existing mines by

providing access to deeper reserves

within existing lease boundaries.

Expenditure in 2000 on these projects

will increase to R900 million

($150 million).

AngloGold’s expansion

necessitated a review of executive

management responsibility and,

consequently, management structures in

South Africa. This resulted in a dedicated

South African executive management

team being appointed in October 1999.

Africa

Sadiola

AngloGold has a 38 per cent interest in

and manages the Sadiola Hill mine in

Western Mali. The other joint venture

partners are IAMGOLD, a Canadian com-

pany (38 per cent), the Government of

Mali (18 per cent) and the International

Finance Corporation (6 per cent). Sadiola

produced 206,000 attributable ounces

of gold during the year. The current 

business plan indicates a mine life

of a further five years. 
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During the year:

Sadiola treated 1.9 million

attributable tonnes at an average

grade of 3.27 grams per tonne. Cash

costs were well maintained with an

average for the year of $102 per

ounce.

Extensive geotechnical test work

is in progress to establish greater

confidence levels in the pit slope

design parameters required for the

mining plan. The commencement

of mining below the water table

has necessitated a pit dewatering

programme.

Power supply problems associated

with the under-performance of the

initially installed generator sets have

necessitated the purchase of a power

generating plant at a cost of R27 million

($4 million) to be installed during the

first quarter of 2000.

The villages of Farabakouta and

Sadiola were successfully relocated

during April and July; this was under-

taken in accordance with World Bank

directives. The move was smooth

following extensive consultation

with, and participation by, the

affected communities and local

government.

Navachab

Navachab, AngloGold’s wholly-owned

open-pit mine near Karibib in Namibia,

produced 64,573 ounces of gold during

the year.

During the year:

AngloGold bought out its joint

venture partners in Navachab for

R30 million ($5 million) to increase its

share in Navachab from 70 to 100 per

cent, with effect from 30 April 1999.

All numbers in this summary reflect

100 per cent ownership for 1999.

Erongo Mining and Exploration

Company, through which the mine is

managed, has become AngloGold

Namibia.

Navachab treated 1.38 million

tonnes at an average grade of

1.46 grams per tonne. Cash costs

declined to $240 per ounce.

A phased pit expansion project

to extend the life of mine from 2003

to 2005 was approved during 1999.

The company experienced a six-

day strike in April which was resolved

and the loss in production was made

up during the year. 

North America
AngloGold’s North American assets are

held through AngloGold North America.

These operations treated (attributable to

AngloGold) 10.4 million tonnes, at an

average grade of 1.44 grams per tonne,

and at an average cash cost of

$173 per ounce.

AngloGold (Colorado)

Formerly Pikes Peak Mining Company,

AngloGold (Colorado) owns 66.7 per

cent of Cripple Creek and Victor,

located south-west of Colorado Springs

in Colorado. AngloGold manages the

operation by agreement with its partner,

Golden Cycle Gold Corporation, but

currently receives 100 per cent of the

cash flow from the operation as a result

of a loan having been extended to the

joint venture by AngloGold.



During the year:

The Cripple Creek and Victor mine

continues to be a low-cost, low-grade

open-pit operation which produced

231,000 ounces of gold during the year.

The expected life of mine is 13 years.

Despite a slow start owing to problems

with heap leaching and heavy snowfalls

in April and May, production improved

during the year to meet expectations.

East Cresson mine development

began during the second quarter following

regulatory approval of Amendment 7 to

the environmental plan in January; this

extends permitted operations through

to 2005. The capital project to extend the

leach pad to accommodate additional

reserves associated with this pit

progressed according to plan.

Following successful permitting,

earthwork construction commenced

for the Valley Leach Facility Phase 3

expansion, which should be completed

in October 2000.

At the end of 1999, work

commenced on a strategy to expedite

the drafting and submission of the

Office of Mined Land Reclamation Permit

Amendment 8. This is expected to

be submitted by the fourth quarter

of 2000 and approved by mid-2001.

Development drilling of mineral

resources is expected to exceed the

1999 ore reserve depletion significantly.

Jerritt Canyon joint venture

AngloGold has a 70 per cent interest in,

and is the operator and manager of, the

Jerritt Canyon joint venture. The remain-

ing 30 per cent is held by Meridian Gold.

The operation is located north-west of

the town of Elko in Nevada.

During the year:

Jerritt Canyon’s surface mine

(Dash) and two underground

mines (Murray and SSX) produced

254,000 attributable ounces of gold. 

Known surface reserves were depleted

in November, leaving the two underground

mines in production. The SSX mine

achieved commercial production this year.

The expected life of these operations is

between four and ten years.

Productivity continued to improve

with the introduction of the underground

truck fleet during the second quarter.

Development is continuing at the

new MCE and Smith underground mines

with the objective of bringing them into

production in the second half of 2000

and 2001 respectively.

A concerted development drilling

effort has been directed at advancing

resource ounces into the production

plan and is expected to replace ore

reserves depleted during 1999.

South America

Morro Velho

Located in Nova Lima, near the city

of Belo Horizonte in Brazil, this wholly-

owned subsidiary has extensive

reserves in the state of Minas Gerais.

During the year:

Ore was sourced from one open-pit

(Espírito Santo) and two underground

mines (Cuiabá and Velha). These

operations produced 197,000 ounces

of gold at an average cash cost of

$124 per ounce, from 876,000 tonnes

treated and at average grade of

7.01 grams per tonne. 
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Espírito Santo is expected to

close in 2000, but this decrease in

production will be partially offset by

an increase in mining at the Cuiabá

and Velha mines.

Discussions are continuing with the

aim of expanding Cuiabá mine, where a

ramp is being deepened to confirm further

reserves and resources.

Serra Grande

AngloGold owns a 50 per cent interest

in and controls and manages the Serra

Grande joint venture with TVX Gold. Serra

Grande is located in the Crixás district in

the north-western area of the Goiás state,

in central Brazil. 

During the year:

Serra Grande’s two mines produced

78,000 attributable ounces of gold at

a cash cost of $117 per ounce, as a

result of treating 310,000 tonnes at

an average grade of 7.8 grams per

tonne. The expected life of mine is

ten years.

Expansion is currently underway

to increase annual throughput from

600,000 tonnes to 720,000 tonnes,

permitting a 20 per cent increase in

gold production.

Cerro Vanguardia

AngloGold and Perez Companc SA

each hold a 46.25 per cent interest in

the mine, while the Santa Cruz province

of Argentina (where the mine is located)

has a 7.5 per cent interest. The

company has the right to exploit

the deposit for 40 years, while the

remaining life of mine is currently

estimated at nine years.

During the year:

Commissioned in the fourth quarter

of 1998, Cerro Vanguardia produced

150,000 attributable ounces of gold and

659,000 attributable ounces of silver.

This was based on the treatment of

314,000 tonnes at an average grade of

14.8 grams per tonne. Annual production

over the life of the mine is expected to be

in the region of 110,000 attributable

ounces of gold and 1.2 million

attributable ounces of silver.

Extensive test work and a funda-

mental change to the mode of

operation of the cyanide recovery

circuit in July has resulted in a

satisfactory low-cost solution to

operational problems experienced

at the beginning of the year.

The high mill head grades

enjoyed this year are not

expected to continue at these

levels into 2000.

The mine has met the Senior Lender

Technical Completion Tests and all

certificates, including financial and

legal certificates, have been lodged

with senior lenders.

Australia
In December 1999 AngloGold acquired

Acacia Resources, comprising Sunrise

Dam mine (100 per cent), Boddington

mine (33.33 per cent), Pine Creek

operations (100 per cent) and Tanami

mine (40 per cent).

Acacia Resources was renamed

AngloGold Australasia. During the

year ahead these operations will

produce around 500,000 attributable

ounces at an average cash cost of

$218 per ounce.
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One-year

Underground and surface operations – South Africa

Area mined – m2 – million 4.0 4.0 
Tonnes milled – million 72.5 72.5 
Yield – g/t (underground) 8.33 8.33 
Production – tonnes 181.3 181.3 
Cash costs – R/m2 mined 1,849 1,849 

– R/t milled, treated 112 112 
– R/kg produced 44,668 44,668 

Capital expenditure – R million 1,142.6 1,142.6 

Open-pit and underground operations – International

Tonnes milled/treated – million 3.2 11.1 1.7 8.8 24.8 
Yield – g/t 2.85 1.37 7.88 1.90 2.18
Production – tonnes 9.0 15.2 13.1 16.7 54.0 
Cash costs – R/kg produced 26,783 37,894 27,755 43,773 35,400 
Capital expenditure – R million 95.8 247.7 122.5 323.4 789.4 

Total

Production – tonnes 235.3 
Cash costs – R/kg produced 42,541 

Productivity index

Grams per employee per month 204 1,226 2,577 692 1,392 252

North South
South African Other African American American Australian Total

Dollar/Imperial operations operations operations operations operations AngloGold

Underground and surface operations – South Africa

Area mined  – ft2 – million 43.1 43.1 
Tons milled – million 79.9 79.9 
Yield  – oz/t (underground) 0.24
Production  – oz – 000 5,829.8 5,829.8 
Cash costs – $/ft2 mined 28 28

– $/t milled 16 16
– $/oz produced 223 223

Capital expenditure – $ million 183.7 183.7 

Open-pit and underground operations – International

Tons milled/treated – million 3.5 12.2 1.8 9.6 27.1 
Yield – oz/t 0.083 0.040 0.230 0.056 0.064
Production – oz – 000 288.8 487.9 420.7 539.0 1,736.4 
Cash costs – $/oz produced 134 190 139 218 177 
Capital expenditure – $ million 15.4 39.8 19.7 51.7 126.6 

Total

Production – oz – 000 7,566.2 
Cash costs – $/oz produced 213

Productivity index

Ounces per employee per month 6.6 39.4 82.9 23.8 44.9 8.1

North South

South African Other African American American Australian Total

Rand/Metric operations operations operations operations operations AngloGold
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Global expansion

José Siqueira De Melo Júnior is a stope

supervisor at Morro Velho’s Cuiabá mine

in Brazil. The year has seen AngloGold’s

global expansion, with 25 operations

in seven countries.



During 1999, AngloGold

broke new ground with its market

development programme aimed

at improving the state of the gold

market. AngloGold’s activities in

this area are based on a long-term

commitment to gold and a concern that

the majority of the gold mining industry

has neglected its product in the

consumer marketplace. The World

Gold Council (WGC), whose resources

have been materially depleted by the

lack of support from gold producers

in recent years, continues to contribute

to market development.

During 1999, some R91 million

($15 million) was spent by AngloGold

on market development activities.

Of this, some R59 million ($10 million)

went to WGC membership and

R32 million ($5 million) was used for

AngloGold’s own market development

activities.

During the year:

There was constructive engagement

between individual holders of gold in

the official sector and AngloGold

(by itself and in collaboration with

other producers and the WGC).

Dialogue continued with banks and

government agencies in China, where the

gold market remains heavily regulated;

liberalisation of this market would be

positive for the stature of gold.

Sponsorship of a number of gold

jewellery design competitions was

undertaken in various markets, including

Asia, India, Turkey and South Africa,

to stimulate gold design excellence

and innovation. The launch of a global

gold design competition, Gold Virtuosi,

jointly sponsored by AngloGold, the

WGC and the Vicenza Gold Jewellery

Fair, was also announced.

Research was initiated in developed

markets to identify opportunities for

positioning gold jewellery for new

generations of consumers. Avenues for

offering gold to the modern consumer

both at the branded, lifestyle end of the

market and at the lower value-for-money

end are also being pursued.

The year 2000 will see a further

R102 million ($16 million) dedicated

towards AngloGold’s expanded

worldwide marketing campaign

aimed at a growing, effective and 

value-generating role; this amount

includes AngloGold’s contribution

to the WGC.

We are committed to developing the gold market. Our

marketing programme aims to increase certainty in the

official sector of the gold market, to deregulate the

market in key economies and to develop the marketing

of our product.
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In 1998 AngloGold embarked

on a five-year programme to modernise

the structure of the organisation.

Significant progress was made in

developing appropriate conditions of

employment and the board approved

AngloGold’s employment equity

philosophy.

During the year:

South Africa
The vision of a 21st century work-

place, characterised by a greater use

of mining technology and a more skilled

and literate workforce, was developed.

Considerable improvements have

flowed from team-based training while

full- and part-time adult basic education

initiatives (at a cost of R50 million or

$8 million annually) continued.

Progress was made towards

equity in access to healthcare and in

developing a rural healthcare plan for

employees and their families at their

rural homes.

Significant progress was made

in developing an employment equity

programme to implement the provisions

of the new Employment Equity Act.

A focus has been the retention and

development of young, tertiary-educated

employees in the face of very robust

competition from a wide range of

employers in South Africa and abroad.

A two-year wage agreement

was reached with the National Union

of Mineworkers.

Africa

Relationships between labour and

management at Navachab continued to

be strained, with a focus on expatriate

permitting issues, despite the

company’s good record in promoting

the employment of Namibian citizens.

The programme to employ an

increasing number of Malian citizens

at Sadiola is advancing, with a reduction

from 53 to 44 expatriates planned for

2000. A new union committee was

elected in November 1999 for a three-year

term. Industrial relations remain good.

North America
Efforts have been made to develop

a more self-directed workforce, where

employees take greater responsibility

for decisions on the job and in planning

for the future. 

South America
Good relations exist with employees

and the union. AngloGold supported

voluntary education aimed at improving

functional literacy as well as special

initiatives such as technical schools

and management development at

intermediate level.
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AngloGold is developing strategies to ensure that it is

resourced with people appropriately motivated, skilled

and experienced for a globally competitive gold company.

21st century workforce
in the making



AngloGold’s global exploration

programme seeks to extend the life

of existing operations and to find

new, cost-effective production ounces.

In-house exploration, exploration joint

ventures and the acquisition of late-

stage exploration prospects will

generate these replacement ounces. 

Expenditure on greenfields

exploration during 1999 amounted

to R287 million ($47 million), while

the expected expenditure for 2000

will be in the region of R277 million

($45 million). The programme aims

to generate a pipeline of projects from

grass roots to late-stage projects,

creating a balance of technical,

geological and country risk. 

During the year:

Exploration offices were set up in

Nova Lima and São Paulo (Brazil),

Lima (Peru), Elko and Denver (USA)

and Perth (Australia). 

Successful drilling programmes at

Nyamulilima Hill in the Geita district of

Tanzania, and Buzwagi in the Kahama

region, have defined 2.6 million ounces

of attributable resources. 

Exploration activities in the

Democratic Republic of Congo

have been suspended owing to

civil unrest. 

The feasibility study at the Amapari

project in Brazil has been completed

and 2.6 million ounces of oxide and

sulphide resources have been

identified.

A letter of intent was signed with

Solitario Resources Corporation to form

a joint venture on the Sapalache gold

property in Peru. 

A joint venture was established

with IAMGOLD to explore within a

300 square kilometre project area

in Ecuador. 

The year ahead:

AngloGold exploration teams have now

been established on four continents

and the year 2000 is expected to

provide a strong base for the

exploration cycle.

Areas with high prospectivity that

will receive particular attention are

the Andean region in South America,

Nevada in North America and Tanzania

in East Africa.

We are looking to find and acquire prospects that will

meet our guidelines, delivering a double-digit rate of

return, 200,000 ounces of annual production, reserves of

2 million ounces and cash costs below $200 per ounce. 
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Beyond 2000
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A pipeline of projects

Carlos Gusmaô, a chemical analyst, is the

pilot plant supervisor at Amapari in Brazil.

AngloGold’s exploration programme aims

to generate a pipeline of projects

from grass roots to late-stage projects

creating a balance of technical,

geological and country risk.



AngloGold’s technology and

innovation programme makes use

of both significant in-house research

and development capabilities, and

also involves collaborative industry

projects. Expenditure during 1999

amounted to R43 million ($7 million)

and expenditure during 2000 is

expected to be R52 million ($8 million). 

During the year:

A major focus has been to encourage

technology transfer. A multi-disciplinary

technology team has been set up

to drive this process, to encourage

technology transfer of more than 20 off-

the-shelf technologies and to monitor

and communicate the many technology

initiatives undertaken across AngloGold.

Industry suppliers are being encouraged

to work with the company in joint

technology initiatives. 

There was increased usage of

stope drill rigs, horizontal transport

communication, and the pack-in-the-pipe

support system. Great effort was put into

the development of a 21st century

underground mining locomotive and

the further development of a mine

planning optimiser. 

Good progress has been made

with the Deep Mine project, a collabora-

tive three-year initiative between three

South African mining companies, tertiary

education institutions, government and

labour. Commissioned to acquire

knowledge and develop technologies

for safe, efficient and profitable deep-

level mining down to 5,000 metres, the

project should start to deliver practical

benefits to existing operations during

the year ahead. AngloGold contributed

R3 million ($0.5 million) to the second

year project cost of R19 million

($3 million). 

The year ahead:

Increased emphasis will be placed

on the transfer of new technologies into

the operations and efforts towards major

mining and metallurgical breakthroughs.

Research has also been commissioned

into the industrial uses of gold.

We will remain at the forefront of technology and

innovation to improve operational excellence in safety

and health, to develop a 21st century mining work-

place and to improve bottom line performance.
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Focus on innovation

Raphael Fakazi is a backfill aggregate

plant operator for the pack-in-a-pipe

support system at Great Noligwa mine

in South Africa. A major focus of the

year has been technology transfer

of both existing and new

developments, particularly on the

South African operations.



The improvement of occupational

safety and health performance has

enjoyed a considerable increase in focus

during 1999. The board approved an

AngloGold-wide safety and health policy,

which allows for country-specific guide-

lines in accordance with local legislation.

During the year:

South Africa

Safety

The increased focus on safety

performance resulted in safety

improvements, especially in reducing

fatal accidents. Tragically, 74 employees

lost their lives as a result of occupational

injury; this includes the death of

19 employees in a single gas explosion

at Mponeng in July. The number of

fatalities during 1999 was some 25 per

cent lower than that recorded the

previous year. Our objective remains

to eliminate fatalities.

AngloGold’s safety and health policy

was endorsed by mine management and

representatives from unions and associa-

tions at a ground-breaking safety summit.

A zero tolerance approach to safety

was adopted at this summit and was

introduced across all operations.

AngloGold continues to use inter-

national experts to assess safety and

health performance and to suggest

strategies to resolve problem areas.

An external audit showed satisfactory

compliance with applicable legislation. 

Two task teams dedicated to

investigating fall-of-ground and horizontal

transport accidents were established

during the year. Partly as a result of this

programme, there was a 32 per cent

reduction in fatal fall-of-ground accidents,

historically responsible for the majority

of mine accidents.

Health

The main challenges remain the

relatively high incidence of occupational

We believe that the safety and health of our employees

is fundamental to the sustainability of our business.

AngloGold management and employees, as well as

representatives of organised labour and government,

are working together towards improving safety and

health in the workplace.
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lung disease and noise-induced hearing

loss (NIHL). 

Three well-equipped occupational

health centres are staffed by occupational

medical practitioners, professional nurses,

audiologists and support staff.

In compliance with the Mine

Health and Safety Act, initial (12,676),

periodical (70,465) and exit (6,160)

medical examinations were performed

at these centres.

2,585 cases of occupational lung

diseases were certified by the Medical

Bureau for Occupational Diseases

(MBOD) in 1999. The certification rate

for 1999 was 3,093 per 100,000 which

reflects an improvement on the 1998

rate of 3,378 per 100,000. However, the

rate for silicosis increased from 664 per

100,000 in 1998 to 826 per 100,000 in

1999. Consequently, dust control will

receive increased focus in 2000.

1,873 employees suffering from

NIHL were compensated by the

Compensation Commissioner for

Occupational Injuries and Disease.

The compensation rate for 1999 was

2,603 per 100,000 which reflects a

significant improvement on

the 1998 rate of 3,148 per

100,000 employees,

testimony to increasing

effectiveness in the hearing

conservation programme.

Medical surveillance and

treatment have improved as

a result of research by Aurum Health,

an AngloGold-funded research initiative,

which continues to concentrate on

occupational lung disease.

HIV/AIDS infection rates in South

Africa are a source of grave concern.

AngloGold has put in place programmes

for the early identification of AIDS-related

illness and the compassionate treatment

of patients, as well as for the prevention

of the spread of the virus and

contingency human resource

development. 

Africa
Navachab continued its excellent

safety record and retained its five-star

NOSA safety rating. Navachab also

won the Namibian Chamber of Mines

A Division safety competition.
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South African safety statistics
Type of injury Lost time Reportable Fatal

1999 1998 % 1999 1998 % 1999 1998 %
change change change

No. of injuries 3,088 3,645 –15 1,787 2,009 –11 74 99 –25
Frequency rate/
million man-
hours worked 14.35 15.18 –5 8.31 8.37 –1 0.34 0.41 –17
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Sadiola achieved a four-star NOSA

safety rating, with an audit result of 82 per

cent. The disabling injury frequency rate

for the year was 3.06 per million man

hours which is below the target for a

five-star rating.

North America
All operations continued to improve

year-on-year safety performance, with one

lost time injury having been recorded at

each operation during the year.

South America
The Brazilian operations’ safety

performance exceeded the Ontario

benchmark (lost time injury frequency

rate of 6.4 per million man hours).

However, the Argentinian operations

performed poorly in the first half of

the year. There was a significant

improvement in the second half. Some

areas of concern were identified and

these are being addressed.

The Brazilian operations were audited

by NOSA and the NOSA system is being

implemented at all operations.

AngloGold supports the amendments

to Brazilian regulations for underground

and surface mining which will be

implemented in the second quarter of

2000 and was involved in the tripartite

committees drafting these regulations.

The year ahead:

On the South African operations, efforts

will continue towards improving safety

through greater participation, training

and commitment, by working with

unions and associations to ensure

that all levels of management and

employees accept responsibility for

their own safety and for that of their

colleagues. While maintaining the focus

on safety improvement, AngloGold’s

strategy has been extended to include a

concerted drive to improve occupational

health, with the focus on occupational

lung diseases and NIHL.

Safety and health management

strategies – in line with AngloGold’s

safety and health policy – will be

implemented across all international

operations during the year ahead.



A strategic focus

Truck driver 95 is April Sheets, who works

at the main Cresson pit, Cripple Creek

and Victor mine in North America.

AngloGold’s safety and health policy

will see the implementation of safety

and health management strategies

across all international operations

during the year ahead.



In October 1999 the AngloGold board

approved a group-wide environmental

policy. 

During the year:

South Africa
In response to the new National

Water Act, all the necessary water

permits were granted.

A review of closure costs was

completed, reaffirming the validity of the

calculations on which annual provisions

are based. 

Under mining law, companies

are required to submit Environmental

Management Programme Reports

(EMPRs) – identifying impacts, mitigation

and rehabilitation issues – to the Govern-

ment Mining Engineer. All operations

received approval for their EMPRs.

Environmental Management

Systems (EMS) are being put in

place for all business units.

Africa
Navachab’s EMS and Integrated

Environmental Review Report was

audited and updated and a provisional

closure plan was completed.

Sadiola’s Environmental Impact

Assessment (EIA) was audited; all 

substantive impacts outlined in the

EIA have been addressed and a

$5 million closure and rehabilitation

plan has been developed.

The Malian authorities have

accepted the EIA for the Yatela 

project.

North America
Environmental inspections at all

operations confirmed compliance with

permit requirements.

Approval was received to expand

operations at the Cresson project and

a $26 million bond to cover reclamation

and closure obligations was posted.

Government authorisations were

obtained to expand operations at Jerritt

Canyon. A $21 million bond was posted

to cover post-mining related liabilities.

South America
All operations were subject to environ-

mental inspections and permit requirements.

Morro Velho’s environmental risks and

liabilities were re-examined and discussed

in public hearings with the authorities and

local communities. The Córrego do Sítio unit

was served with a notification in early 1999;

this is being opposed by the company and

is pending a final decision by the State of

Minas Gerais Environmental Authority.

Following the completion of an EIA

to the Amapa Environmental Authorities

in mid-1999, the process to obtain a

preliminary pre-operation licence for the

Amapari project (Brazil) is in progress.

The long-term sustainability of our business is

dependent on the protection of the environments in

which we operate and efficient management in the

exploration and extraction of mineral resources.
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Long-term sustainability

Matthew Morgan Cobb (student

geologist), Pete Doman (pit technician)

and Zakhir Geoffrey Osman (student

engineer) at Sunrise Dam mine, Australia.

During 1999 the AngloGold board

approved a group-wide environmental

policy which is being implemented

across all operations.



During the year:

South Africa
This work is channelled through the

AngloGold Fund and Educational Trust

Fund (the Fund) and the Small and

Medium Enterprises Developments

Initiative (SMEDI).

The Fund contributed R15 million

($3 million) to 350 projects involved

with education, job creation and skills

development, community health,

community upliftment and social

welfare initiatives with a focus on

rural development. 

SMEDI aims to stimulate economic

growth, mainly in the areas in which

AngloGold operates and to empower

disadvantaged people and

communities. SMEDI’s R10 million

($2 million) fund invested in companies

that provide services to AngloGold.

SMEDI also assists small businesses

with drawing up their business plans,

negotiating contracts and raising loans

from financial institutions. The initiative

has helped establish 34 small

businesses in 1999, with a turnover

of some R22 million ($4 million)

and employing 511 people, bringing

the total to 117 small and medium

enterprises with a turnover of some

R105 million and employing

2,400 people.

Africa
Navachab contributed to educational

and other projects in the local community,

while in Mali, Sadiola has set up a

Community Development Fund for the

benefit of local communities, supporting

projects with a focus on education,

healthcare and community development.

North America
Contributions were made towards

community initiatives, state and local

educational organisations, national

health organisations, educational

scholarships, community sports

programmes, as well as political

and industry support initiatives.

South America
AngloGold participated in numerous

community projects.

Financial and technical support

was provided to a spectrum of

educational institutions from day-care

facilities to universities, to improve both

the standard of education and to

promote scientific and technical study

and research. 

The company also contributed to the

development and promotion of small

business initiatives which create jobs and

generate income for local communities. 

We play a constructive role in supporting social

investment programmes and the development of

small business, in addition to our contribution to

communities through business activities, employment

practices and good corporate citizenship.
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In our 1998 annual report, we noted that we

were classifying our mineral resources in a form

which broadly aligned with the Australasian Code

for Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore

Reserves ("The JORC Code") and on the then

latest draft of the South African Code for

Reporting of Mineral Resources and Mineral

Reserves ("The SAMREC Code"). As a result

of AngloGold’s listing on the Australian Stock

Exchange in November 1999, we are now

required to comply fully with the JORC Code.

The SAMREC Code will be implemented during

2000 and will regulate our reporting in future.

Consequently, in complying with both codes, we

are making two changes to the reporting of both

our mineral resources and our mineral reserves.

First, the South African mineral resources on

which we reported in the past were only those

portions which were part of our life of mine plans –

following South African practice. Those portions

for which there was a reasonable chance of

economic extraction but which were not part of

the life of mine plan – that is, where there was

currently no mining infrastructure either in place

or planned – were not included. In this report, the

mineral resource includes all resources for which

there are reasonable prospects for eventual

extraction, irrespective of whether they are in

the life of mine plan, and also includes inferred

resources. This is in line with both the JORC and

SAMREC codes and our reported South African

mineral resources are therefore considerably

higher than they were last year.

Second, the mineral reserves as disclosed

in the 1998 report included all in situ resources

which were in the life of mine plan and which

were above a certain pay limit, regardless of the

practical considerations involved in extracting

the ore (again, in line with South African practice).

In this report, conforming with the JORC and

SAMREC requirements, the reported reserves

exclude those portions of our resources which

are not likely to be brought to account as a result

of safety and technical factors. The total reported

South African reserves are consequently lower

than they were last year.

A mineral resource is a concentration or

occurrence of material of economic interest in

or on the earth’s crust in such form, quality and

quantity that there are reasonable and realistic

prospects for eventual economic extraction. The

location, quantity, grade, continuity and other

geological characteristics of a mineral resource

are known, estimated from specific geological

evidence and knowledge, or interpreted from a

well-constrained and portrayed geological model. 

Mineral resources are subdivided, in order of

increasing geological confidence, into inferred,

indicated and measured categories. Mineral

resources include those resources which have

been modified by the application of technical

and other factors to produce mineral reserves. 

A mineral reserve (or ore reserve) is the

economically mineable material derived from

a measured and/or indicated mineral resource.

It includes marginally economic and diluting

materials delivered for treatment and allows for

losses that may occur during mining. Appropriate

assessments have been carried out, including

realistically assumed mining, metallurgical,

economic, marketing, legal, environmental,

social and governmental factors. These

assessments demonstrate that, at the time

of reporting, extraction is reasonably justified.

Mineral reserves are sub-divided, in order of

increasing confidence, into probable mineral

reserves and proved mineral reserves.
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Resources and reserves
for the future

Abridged definitions
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South African underground resources* Other African resources*

Competent persons

Competent persons, designated in terms of the

SAMREC Code and taking corporate responsibility

for the reporting of AngloGold’s mineral

resources, are:

G D R Cantello*, BSc (Hons) (Geology), MBL,

Pr.Sci.Nat, MGSSA, Head of Mineral Resources

M F O’Brien, BSc (Hons) (Geology), GDE, Dip.

Datametrics, MSAIMM, MGSSA, MGASA,

MAusIMM, Senior Evaluation Manager 

V A Chamberlain*, MSc (Mining Engineering),

BSc (Geology), MGSSA, MGASA, (Pr.Sci.Nat

application being processed), Senior

Evaluation Manager

Designated competent persons for the reporting

of mineral reserves are:

D P C Heugh*, BSc (Mining Engineering),

MDP, CPIR, MSAIMM, Head of Mining

D L Worrall*, ACSM, Manager, Surface Mining

J v Z Visser*, BSc (Mineral Resource

Management), Pr.M.S.(SA), MSAIMM,

Manager, Planning/IT

*(AusIMM application being processed)

Notes

Based on ore deposit type and geographic

location, the mineral resources and reserves

data has been divided into:

South African operations (underground)

South African operations (surface)

Other African operations (surface)

American operations (underground and

surface)

Australian operations (underground and

surface).

A detailed breakdown of the mineral reserves

and mineral resources, together with plans of

the South African operations, is provided in

a supplementary statistics document. This is

obtainable from the AngloGold offices at the

addresses given on the inside back cover of this

report. This information is also provided in the

annual report section of the AngloGold website

(www.anglogold.com).

Rounding of figures in this report and in the

supplementary statistics document may cause

computational discrepancies.
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Mineral resources* 
* Includes proved and probable mineral reserves

Metric Imperial
Contained Contained

Tonnes Grade gold Tons Grade gold
million g/t tonnes million oz/t million oz

South African operations† Measured 58.3 11.43 666.8 64.3 0.333 21.4
(Underground) Indicated 384.7 11.77 4,526.5 424.1 0.343 145.5

Inferred 451.8 9.37 4,232.7 498.0 0.273 136.1
Sub-total 894.8 10.53 9,426.0 986.3 0.307 303.1

South African operations Measured 885.9 0.39 348.9 976.5 0.011 11.2
(Surface) Indicated – – – – – –

Inferred – – – – – –
Sub-total 885.9 0.39 348.9 976.5 0.011 11.2

Other African operations ** Measured 13.7 1.29 17.8 15.1 0.038 0.6
Indicated 64.3 2.05 131.8 70.9 0.060 4.2

Inferred 125.4 1.73 216.8 138.2 0.050 7.0
Sub-total 203.3 1.80 366.4 224.1 0.053 11.8

American operations ** Measured 196.1 1.42 278.7 216.2 0.041 9.0
Indicated 133.1 2.32 309.2 146.7 0.068 9.9

Inferred 130.6 1.87 244.0 144.0 0.055 7.8
Sub-total 459.8 1.81 831.9 506.8 0.053 26.7

Australian operations ** Measured 48.0 1.40 67.1 52.9 0.041 2.2
Indicated 113.4 1.66 188.5 125.0 0.048 6.1

Inferred 68.0 1.70 115.4 75.0 0.050 3.7
Sub-total 229.4 1.62 371.0 252.9 0.047 11.9

Totals** Measured 1,202.1 1.15 1,379.3 1,325.1 0.033 44.3
Indicated 695.5 7.41 5,156.0 766.7 0.216 165.8

Inferred 775.8 6.20 4,808.9 855.2 0.181 154.6
Total 2,673.3 4.24 11,344.2 2,946.8 0.124 364.7

** Resources attributable to AngloGold
† Mineral resources as at 31 October 1999.

Mineral reserves
Metric Imperial

Contained Contained
Tonnes Grade gold Tons Grade gold
million g/t tonnes million oz/t million oz

South African operations ‡ Proved 37.2 8.79 326.6 41.0 0.256 10.5
(Underground) Probable 260.1 8.92 2,321.4 286.7 0.260 74.6

Sub-total 297.3 8.91 2,648.0 327.7 0.260 85.1
South African operations Proved 382.1 0.46 176.4 421.2 0.013 5.7
(Surface) Probable – – – – – –

Sub-total 382.1 0.46 176.4 421.2 0.013 5.7
Other African operations ** Proved 4.5 2.22 10.0 5.0 0.065 0.3

Probable 12.7 2.92 37.0 14.0 0.085 1.2
Sub-total 17.2 2.73 47.0 19.0 0.080 1.5

American operations ** Proved 108.5 1.79 194.1 119.6 0.052 6.2
Probable 64.4 1.91 122.9 71.0 0.056 4.0
Sub-total 173.0 1.83 317.0 190.7 0.053 10.2

Australian operations ** Proved 16.8 1.64 27.5 18.5 0.048 0.9
Probable 39.7 2.40 95.5 43.8 0.070 3.1
Sub-total 56.5 2.18 123.0 62.3 0.063 4.0

Totals** Proved 549.1 1.34 734.6 605.3 0.039 23.6
Probable 377.0 6.84 2,576.8 415.6 0.199 82.8

Total 926.1 3.58 3,311.4 1,020.8 0.104 106.5
** Mineral reserves attributable to AngloGold

‡ Mineral reserves as at 30 April 1999
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Contiguous exploration 
South Africa
Eight surface boreholes were scheduled to
commence during the year in the Western Ultra
Deep Levels (WUDL) area. However, during the
year, priorities in the exploration programme were
revised and the WUDL schedule was curtailed. It
was decided to allow UD49 and UD50 to run to
completion, but to stop the rest of the holes at the
base of the dolomitic formation in the Transvaal
Sequence, where the holes would be cased off
and temporarily sealed, pending re-opening and
completion of the exercise. Futhermore, UD56,
which had not commenced at the time of this
decision, would not start at all, and be deferred
until the programme recommenced. At the end
of the year, drilling in UD49 had been completed,
Carbon Leader Reef having been intersected at
4,410 metres. UD50 continued towards the
Carbon Leader target at 4,930 metres, and
all other holes were drilled in the Transvaal
Sequence as planned, except for UD56.

Following the curtailment of the WUDL drilling,
focus shifted to the Vaal River area. Two holes have
initially been scheduled in the Moab Extension area,
where revised ore body modelling and seismic
interpretation have indicated the potential of high
grades, giving the area a high priority.

Two holes have been scheduled for the
Goedgenoeg area to the north-west of the Tau
Lekoa mine to explore the extension of the high
grade channel on the downthrown side of the
Schoonspruit Fault.

The ‘B’ Reef exploration programme on
Tshepong mine continued in an area 1,000 metres
north-north-east of the north shaft. Encouraging
values have been obtained in narrow ‘A’ facies
channels but additional diamond drilling and on-
reef development will be necessary to fully
evaluate the ‘B’ Reef potential.

A joint project between Tshepong mine and
Leeds University (Rock Deformation Research
Group) was undertaken towards the end of 1999
with the aim of developing a dynamic and
sustainable mineralisation and prospectivity model
for the mine. The results of the research project
are scheduled for presentation at the end of
March 2000 but is is envisaged that the model
will facilitate the optimisation of the evaluation
and planning of the Basal Reef.

South America
AngloGold commenced a full review of exploration
activities in and around the mines in Brazil and
Argentina. At the Cuiabá mine in Brazil, a resource
of 17 million tonnes at a grade of 7.9 grams per
tonne is present below level 11. Further exploration
is aimed at upgrading this into the reserve category.
In addition, other known targets are present in the
immediate vicinity of the operation.

AngloGold has a large ground-holding position
in the Iron Quadrangle in Brazil, one of the world's
premier gold districts, and will be the focus of
a renewed exploration programme in 2000.
Exploration in the Iron Quadrangle is focused
at Córrego do Sítio, to the south west of the São
Bento mine (a 1.6 million ounces deposit owned
by El Dorado Gold). This area was developed
for small gold oxide deposits and AngloGold is
actively exploring for sulphide mineralisation.
Ongoing exploration in and around Serra Grande
is producing encouraging results.

At Cerro Vanguardia in Argentina, exploration
has defined an additional 130,000 ounces of
resource during 1999. Data compilation of all
previous work is being undertaken by AngloGold
around the deposit and will form the basis of an
aggressive exploration programme during the
coming year.

North America
AngloGold’s exploration activities in North America
resulted in the definition of significant gains to its
mineral inventory. Exploration and related activities
at the Cripple Creek and Victor Gold Mining
Company joint venture area of interest in Colorado
defined approximately 930,000 new, in-situ ounces
(29 tonnes) of mineral reserves in 1999. Efforts in
2000 will be focused on further defining the mineral
resource potential of the Cripple Creek district.
At the Jerritt Canyon joint venture in Nevada,
AngloGold commenced a new, three-year
exploration programme to extend the life of its
operation through development of mineral reserves
at its existing underground mines and through
discovery and development of new ore deposits.
Activities in 1999, the first year of the programme,
yielded approximately 360,000 new, in-situ ounces
(11 tonnes) of mineral reserves. Efforts at Jerritt
Canyon in 2000 will continue with the strategic
directions of this three-year plan.
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Chairman
Nicky Oppenheimer, BA (Politics, Philosophy

and Economics)

Mr Oppenheimer (54) was appointed a director

and non-executive chairman of AngloGold in April

1998. He is a non-executive deputy chairman of

Anglo American plc, chairman of De Beers

Consolidated Mines and a director of a number

of other companies.

Executive directors
Bobby Godsell, BA, MA

Mr Godsell (47) was appointed a director in

1989 and chief executive officer of AngloGold

in April 1998. Mr Godsell has 26 years of service

with companies associated with the mining

industry, and serves as a non-executive director

of Anglo American plc.

Jonathan Best, MBA, ACIMA, ACIS

Mr Best (51) is AngloGold’s finance director.

He was appointed a director in 1994. Mr Best

has had 31 years of service with companies

associated with the mining industry.

Kelvin Williams, BA

Mr Williams (51) is marketing director of

AngloGold. He was appointed a director in 1990.

He is chairman of Rand Refinery and a director

of the World Gold Council.

Non-executive directors
Frank Arisman, MSc (Finance)

Mr Arisman (54) was appointed to the AngloGold

board in April 1998. He lives in New York and is

managing director of JP Morgan, a company

which he joined in 1972.

Elisabeth Bradley, BSc, MSc

Mrs Bradley (61) was appointed a director of

AngloGold in April 1998. She is executive chairman

of Wesco Investments Limited, vice chairman of

Toyota SA Limited and a director of a number of other

companies. Mrs Bradley is also deputy chairman

of the South African Institute of International Affairs.

Colin Brayshaw, CA(SA), FCA

Mr Brayshaw (64) was appointed to the board

in 1997. He is a retired managing partner and

chairman of Deloitte & Touche, and is a director

of a number of other companies.

James Campbell, PhD (Geophysics),

BSc (Mathematical Physics), BA (Management

Engineering)

Dr Campbell (50) was appointed a director

of AngloGold in April 1998. He is an executive

director of Anglo American plc with responsibility

for coal and base metals, and is a director of

a number of other companies.

Russell Edey, FCA

Mr Edey (57) was appointed to the board of

AngloGold in April 1998. Based in the United

Kingdom, Mr Edey is deputy chairman of

NM Rothschild Corporate Finance.

Victor Fung, PhD (Business Economics),

MSc (Electrical Engineering)

Dr Fung (54) was appointed to the AngloGold

board in 1998. He is chairman of Prudential Asia

Investments, which he joined in 1986, of Li & Fung

Limited, Hong Kong, of the Hong Kong Trade

Development Council and of the Hong Kong

Airport Authority.

Mike King, CA (SA), FCA

Mr King (62) was appointed a director of

AngloGold in April 1998. He has been head of

Anglo American Corporation’s finance division

since 1980, and is an executive vice chairman

of Anglo American plc.

James Motlatsi

Mr Motlatsi (48) was appointed to the board of

AngloGold in April 1998. Mr Motlatsi has worked

in the South African mining industry since 1970,

and is president of the National Union of

Mineworkers (NUM), a position he has held since

1982. He is also president of the Southern Africa

Miners’ Federation.
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Bill Nairn, BSc Engineering (Mining)

Mr Nairn (56) was appointed to the AngloGold

board in January 2000. He is technical director

of Anglo American Corporation and serves as

a member of the Anglo Base Metals Executive.

Mr Nairn is a past CEO of JCI, a position he

held from 1994 until 1997.

Donald Ncube, BA (Economics, Political Science),

MSc (Manpower Studies)

Mr Ncube (52) was appointed to the board of

AngloGold in April 1998. Mr Ncube is executive

chairman of Real Africa Holdings, a black

empowerment investment holding company.

Julian Ogilvie Thompson, BA (Politics,

Philosophy and Economics)

Mr Ogilvie Thompson (66) was appointed a

director of AngloGold in April 1998. Mr Ogilvie

Thompson is chairman of Anglo American plc and

deputy chairman of De Beers Consolidated Mines.

He is also a director of a number of other

companies.

Alternate director
Bob Garnett, CA (SA)

Mr Garnett (50) was appointed to the AngloGold

board in April 1998. He is executive vice

president: finance of Anglo American Corporation.

He is also a director of a number of other

companies.

Executive committee

Bobby Godsell, 47, chief executive officer

and chairman

Jonathan Best, 51, finance director

Richard Duffy, 36, managing secretary

James Duncan, 44, corporate communications

Dick Fisher, 58, safety, health and environment

Dave Hodgson, 52, exploration and technology

Jim Komadina, 43, North American operations

Steve Lenahan, 44, investor relations

John Myburgh, 54, general counsel and

Malian operations

Roberto Carvalho Silva, 48, South American

operations

Alan Smith, 44, South African operations

Barry Tapson, 46, human resources and

Namibian operations

Nigel Unwin, 47, Australasian operations

Kelvin Williams, 51, marketing director
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Directors’ approval Report of the independent
auditors on the annual
financial statements

The annual financial statements and group annual financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 1999 were approved

by the board of directors on 9 March 2000 and are signed on its

behalf by:

Directors

N F Oppenheimer R M Godsell

Chairman Chief executive officer

J G Best C B Brayshaw

Finance director Chairman, audit

committee

R N Duffy

Managing secretary

In terms of the Companies Act I certify that the company has

lodged, with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are

required of a public company in terms of the Act, and that all such

returns are true, correct and up to date.

R N Duffy

Managing secretary

Johannesburg

9 March 2000

We have audited the annual financial statements and group annual

financial statements of AngloGold Limited set out on pages 39

to 87 for the year ended 31 December 1999. These financial

statements are the responsibility of the company's directors.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements based on our audit.

Scope

We conducted our audit in accordance with statements of South

African Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the

financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit includes:

– examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements;

– assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management; and 

– evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our

opinion.

Audit opinion

In our opinion the annual financial statements and group annual

financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the

financial position of the company and the group at 31 December

1999, and the results of operations and cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with South African Statements of

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, International Accounting

Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act in

South Africa.

Ernst & Young

Registered Accountants and Auditors

Chartered Accountants (SA)

Johannesburg

9 March 2000

Secretary’s certificate
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Corporate governance

AngloGold is committed to ensuring that its relationships and

business dealings with its stakeholders worldwide are conducted

with integrity, transparency and responsibility and in accordance

with best international practices.

The directors consider that the group complies with the

recommendations of the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct

as issued by the King Committee on Corporate Governance.

Financial statements
The directors are required by the South African Companies Act to

maintain adequate accounting records and to prepare annual financial

statements which fairly present the state of affairs of the company and

the AngloGold group at the end of the financial year, and the results

of operations and cash flows for the year, in conformity with South

African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.

In preparing the annual financial statements reflected in both

South African rands and United States dollars on pages 39 to 87,

the group has complied with both South African and International

Accounting Standards and has used appropriate accounting

policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and

estimates. The directors are of the opinion that these financial

statements fairly present the financial position of the group and

the company at 31 December 1999, and the results of their

operations and cash flow information for the year then ended.

The directors have reviewed the group’s budget and cash flow

forecast for the year to 31 December 2000. On the basis of this

review, and in the light of the current financial position and

existing borrowing facilities, the directors are satisfied that

AngloGold is a going-concern and have continued to adopt

the going-concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The external auditors, Ernst & Young, are responsible for

independently auditing and reporting on the financial statements

in conformity with generally accepted auditing standards in South

Africa. Their unqualified report on these financial statements

appears on page 38.

As part of its listing on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE),

the company is registered with the United States Securities and

Exchange Commission (SEC). To comply with requirements for

reporting by non-US companies registered with the SEC, the

company has prepared a set of financial statements (known as

Form 20-F) in accordance with US generally accepted accounting

principles which are available from The Bank of New York to

holders of the company’s securities listed in the form of American

Depositary Shares on the NYSE. Copies of Form 20-F are also

available to stakeholders and other interested parties upon request

to the company’s corporate and New York offices.

Internal control

The group’s corporate governance practices have been broadened

with the establishment of procedures necessary to implement,

with effect from 1 January 2000, the “Turnbull Guidance”, as set

out in the Internal Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined

Code, published by The Institute of Chartered Accountants in

England and Wales.

The directors are responsible for the group’s system of internal

financial control. The control system is designed to safeguard the

group’s assets, maintain proper accounting records and ensure

the reliability of financial information produced by the group. Such

a system can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance

against material misstatement or loss.

A review of the risk management process for significant risks was

undertaken during the second half of 1999. This formed the basis

of the new procedures which have been established in order to

implement the Turnbull Guidance. In addition, an active review is

being maintained to continually enhance the system of control.

The appropriateness of the internal controls is independently

appraised by an internal audit department. Regular meetings are

held between management and the internal and external auditors

to review matters relating to internal accounting controls, auditing

and financial reporting. The directors are of the opinion, based on

the information and explanations given by management and the

internal auditors, and on comment by the external auditors on

the results of their audit, that internal accounting controls are

adequate, so that the accounting records may be relied on for

preparing the group and company financial statements and

maintaining accountability for assets and liabilities. The directors

believe that, in all material respects, assets are protected and used

as intended with appropriate authorisation. Nothing has come

to the attention of the directors to indicate that any material break-

down in these controls has occurred during the year under review.

Based on the scope of the audit, the external auditors concur with

the above statements by the directors regarding internal accounting

controls and going-concern.
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Corporate governance (continued)

Board and committee structures

The company has a unitary board structure comprising 12 non-

executive directors, four of whom, including the chairman, are

directors of AngloGold’s ultimate holding company, Anglo

American plc. Seven are independent of management. Non-

executive directors derive no benefits from the company for

their services as directors other than their fee. The non-

executive directors are of a high calibre and sufficient number

for their independent views to carry significant weight in the

board’s deliberations and decisions. There are also three

executive directors including the chief executive officer. No

executive directors hold service contracts. All directors are

subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders

at least once every three years in accordance with the

company’s articles of association. The appointment of

new directors is approved by the board as a whole.

The board retains full and effective control over the group,

meeting on a quarterly basis with additional meetings being

arranged when necessary, to review strategy, planning,

operational performance, acquisitions and disposals, major

capital expenditure, shareholder communications and other

material matters reserved for its decision. The board is also

responsible for monitoring the activities of executive

management within the group.

The directors have access to the advice and services of a

managing secretary, as well as a company secretary, who are

both responsible to the board for ensuring compliance with

procedures and regulations of a statutory nature. Directors are

entitled to seek independent professional advice concerning

the affairs of the group at the group’s expense, should they

believe that course of action would be in the best interests

of the group.

The board has established a number of standing committees in

which, with the exception of the executive committee, the non-

executive directors play an active role, particularly in the capacity

as chairman of the committee concerned. All standing

committees operate within written terms of references

established by the board. Remuneration of non-executive

directors for their services on the various committees has

been determined by the board.

Executive committee

The executive committee of the board comprises the three

executive directors, namely the chief executive officer as

chairman, the marketing director and the finance director, as

well as ten executive officers and the managing secretary. The

committee meets regularly to review current operations in detail,

develop strategy and policy proposals for consideration by the

board and to implement its directives. The names of the members

of the committee appear on page 36.

Audit committee

C B Brayshaw (chairman) R P Edey

Mrs E le R Bradley R P Garnett

To assist the board in discharging its responsibilities to maintain

adequate financial controls, the audit committee meets four times

yearly with the external audit partner, the group’s internal audit

manager and the finance director to review the audit plans of the

internal and external auditors, to ascertain the extent to which the

scope of the audit can be relied upon to detect weaknesses in

internal controls and to review the half-yearly results, the audited

preliminary announcement of the annual results and the annual

financial statements prior to approval by the board.

The committee comprises four non-executive directors. The

group’s internal audit manager and the external audit partner

have unrestricted access to the chairman of the committee and,

where necessary, to the chairman of the board. All important

findings arising from audit procedures are brought to the

attention of the committee.

Employment equity committee

T J Motlatsi (chairman) R M Godsell

F B Arisman W A Nairn

The company is committed to promoting an organisational

culture which provides all employees with opportunities to

progress to their optimal levels of career development. To ensure

that the company achieves its employment equity objectives and

the proper implementation of its strategies, the employment

equity committee, comprising the chief executive officer and

three non-executive directors, meets four times a year.

Investment committee

R P Edey (chairman) Dr J W Campbell

J G Best M W King

Mrs E le R Bradley K H Williams

During the year, the board established an investment committee

for the purpose of ensuring that significant investments,
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disinvestments and financing proposals are in accordance with

the company’s primary objective of creating wealth for its

shareholders on a sustainable long-term basis. This committee,

which meets when required, is composed of the finance and

marketing directors and four non-executive directors.

Market development committee

Dr V K Fung (chairman) R M Godsell

F B Arisman T J Motlatsi

Mrs E le R Bradley K H Williams

The primary objective of the market development committee

is to extend the influence of the company, as the world’s

largest gold company, in the development of a broader gold

business both nationally and internationally. This committee,

which meets four times a year, is composed of the chief

executive officer, the marketing director and four non-

executive directors.

Remuneration committee

R P Edey (chairman) J Ogilvie Thompson

D M J Ncube N F Oppenheimer

The remuneration committee is primarily responsible for

approving the remuneration policies of the group and the

terms and conditions of employment of executive directors and

officers, including the determination of salaries, performance-

linked bonuses and the administration of the AngloGold Limited

Share Incentive Scheme. The committee, consisting of four non-

executive directors, meets on an annual basis.

Safety, health and environment committee

D M J Ncube (chairman) T J Motlatsi

R M Godsell W A Nairn

The company attaches great importance to the safety and health

of its employees and to the environment at large. One of the prime

objectives of this committee is the elimination of all workplace

accidents. The committee conducts on-site inspections in regard

to matters of serious concern.

Through a comprehensive environmental policy, the committee

assesses the impact that the company’s operations might have

on the environment.

The committee, which meets on a quarterly basis, comprises the

chief executive officer and three non-executive directors.

Worker participation
The company employs a variety of strategies and structures, which

are designed to promote worker participation. These strategies and

structures are further developed and adapted from time to time to

meet variations in operational requirements and to accommodate

changing circumstances. Management and worker representatives

currently meet in formal and informal forums at company and

operational levels to share information and to address matters

of mutual interest.

Code of ethics
All directors and employees are required to maintain the highest

ethical standards in ensuring that the group’s business practices

are conducted in a manner which, in all reasonable circumstances,

is above reproach.

In addition, the company operates a closed period prior to the

publication of its quarterly and year-end financial results during

which period directors and officers of the company may not deal

in the shares of the company. The closed period extends from the

end of the quarter until the day of publication of the results. Where

appropriate, this restriction on dealing is also extended to include

other sensitive periods.

Communication
The company subscribes to a policy of open communication

with its stakeholders worldwide. Shareholders and members of

the investment communities around the globe are encouraged

to direct their comments on issues concerning the company and

obtain answers to their questions on a one-to-one basis through

strategically based contact personnel detailed in all reports published

by the company. International media briefings are held when the

company’s results are announced at quarterly intervals. The company

also has a website containing up-to-date information.

Equally high value is placed on the process of internal

communication through the company’s monthly publications

to employees at corporate office and operating units.

Year 2000 compliance
Operations of the group worldwide reported a smooth transition into

the year 2000. However, skilled resources will continue to monitor

the situation during the course of the forthcoming months.

Costs incurred to 31 December 1999 on the group’s 2000

compliance programme, exclusive of expenditure on planned

upgrades, internal manpower and certain outsourcing charges,

amounted to R15 million ($3 million).
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 December 1999

Issued

Number of shares Rand

At 31 December 1998 97,853,199 48,926,599

Issued during year:

Acquisition of Acacia 8,659,379 4,329,690

Exercise of share options and conversion of debentures by

participants in the share incentive scheme 102,100 51,050

At 31 December 1999 106,614,678 53,307,339

Issued subsequent to year end:

Acquisition of Acacia 351,009 175,505

Exercise of share options and conversion of debentures 

by participants in the share incentive scheme 30,000 15,000

At 9 March 2000 106,995,687 53,497,844

All the issued A and B redeemable preference shares are held by a wholly-owned subsidiary

Unissued

Number of shares

At 31 December 1998 102,146,801

Issued during year 8,761,479

At 31 December 1999 93,385,322

Maximum number of shares that were available for allocation 

for purposes of the share incentive scheme at 31 December 1999 was 2,931,903 (1998: 2,690,962)

Issued subsequent to year end 381,009

At 9 March 2000 93,004,313

Maximum number of shares that may be allocated for purposes 

of the share incentive scheme at 9 March 2000 2,942,381

Unissued shares under the control of the directors at 9 March 2000 90,061,932

Nature of business
AngloGold is the world’s largest producer of gold with mining

operations being conducted in three countries in Africa, as well as

on the continents of North and South America and Australia, and

gold exploration interests being pursued worldwide. Fuller details

regarding the group’s activities during the year under review

appear elsewhere in the annual report.

Acquisition of Acacia Resources Limited
On 15 November 1999 the company made an offer for the entire

issued share capital of Acacia Resources Limited (Acacia), on

the basis of 3.5 ordinary shares in the company for every 100

Acacia shares. By the extended closing date of the offer

(24 December 1999), acceptances had been received in respect

of 96.32 per cent of Acacia’s issued share capital. On 7 February

2000, the company compulsorily acquired the remaining issued

shares of Acacia.

Share capital
There was no change to the authorised share capital of the

company during 1999. The company is a subsidiary of Anglo

American Corporation of South Africa Limited, which at

31 December 1999 held a 50.35 per cent interest, and its ultimate

holding company is Anglo American plc. The following are the

movements in the issued and unissued ordinary share capital from

the beginning of the accounting period to the date of this report:
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At the annual general meeting to be held on 25 May 2000,

members will be asked to consider an ordinary resolution placing

the number of unissued ordinary shares, exclusive of the number

of shares reserved for purposes of the share incentive scheme as

at that date, under the control of the directors until the next annual

general meeting.

In terms of the Listings Requirements of the Johannesburg Stock

Exchange, shareholders may, subject to certain conditions,

authorise the directors to issue the unissued shares held under

their control for cash other than by means of a rights offer to

members. In order that the directors of the company may be

placed in a position to take advantage of favourable circumstances

which may arise for the issue, for the benefit of the company, of

such shares for cash without restriction, members will be asked to

consider an ordinary resolution to this effect at the forthcoming

annual general meeting. 

Share incentive scheme

At the general meeting held on 4 June 1998, shareholders

approved the introduction of the AngloGold Limited Share

Incentive Scheme for the purpose of providing an incentive to

executive directors and senior employees of the company and

its subsidiaries to identify themselves more closely with the

fortunes of the group and its continued growth, and also to

promote the retention of such employees by giving them an

opportunity to acquire shares in the company. Employees

participate in the scheme to the extent that they are granted

options or offered automatically convertible unsecured

debentures and accept them.

At 9 March 2000, the maximum number of ordinary shares

that may be allocated for the purposes of the scheme is

2,942,381, equivalent to 2.75 per cent of the total number of

ordinary shares in issue at that date. The maximum aggregate

number of shares which may be acquired by any one participant

in the scheme is 150,000.

The options granted may be exercised and the debentures

accepted may be converted as follows:

Period after date of grant of

Percentage options/issue of debentures

20 2 years

40 3 years

60 4 years

100 5 years

The equity component of the automatically convertible

debentures is not sufficiently material to warrant reporting a

portion of the issued debentures as equity and the balance as

debt. The interest on these debentures is payable annually at the

official interest rate per the seventh schedule of the Income Tax

Act which approximates market rates.

All options which have not been exercised within ten years from the

date on which they were granted automatically lapse. Debentures

which have not been converted within a similar period of

acceptance will be ceded to the AngloGold Limited Employees’

Share and Debenture Trust established by the company for

purposes of the scheme. 
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Directors’ report (continued)

9 March 31 December 31 December

2000 1999 1998

Number of shares unallocated for purposes of the scheme 1,761,381 1,745,903 1,611,262

Analysis of options and debentures in issue at 9 March 2000:

Holding Holders Options Holders Debentures

1 to 1,000 – – 13 9,500

1,001 to 5,000 74 209,600 183 418,000

5,001 to 10,000 17 123,950 6 50,000

10,001 to 100,000 15 342,950 2 27,000

Over 100,000 – – – –

Options Debentures

Ordinary Exercise Acceptance
shares price per price per
issued Number share Number debenture

At 31 December 1998 13,800 659,200 420,500
Movements during year:
Options – granted 133,900 Varying between

R235.80 and R244.00
– exercised 94,600 (94,600)*

Debentures – issued 74,500 Varying between
R235.80 and R378.00

– converted 7,500 (7,500)

At 31 December 1999 115,900 698,500 487,500

Movements subsequent to year end:
Options – granted 3,000 R305.00

– exercised 25,000 (25,000)†
Debentures – issued 22,000 Varying between

R299.00 and R360.00
– converted 5,000 (5,000)

At 9 March 2000 145,900 676,500 504,500

* Includes 6,850 options exercised by executive directors at R208.00 per share

† Includes 200 options exercised by executive directors at R208.00 per share

The following are summaries of particulars required to be disclosed in terms of the scheme and stock exchange regulations:

Further details of the authorised, issued and unissued shares, as well as the share premium, are given in note 17 to the company’s financial

statements.
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Number of Proceeds

Effective date Investment sold shares Rm

8 April 1999 Driefontein Consolidated Limited 43,809,572 1,314.2

1 May 1999 Graphic Mining Solutions International (Proprietary) Limited 81,000 24.0*

22 December 1999 Lansan Investment Holdings Limited 54,573 10.9

23 December 1999 Gold Fields Limited 146,822 4.2

* R17.6 million received. Balance of R6.3 million payable in two equal instalments on 4 June 2000 and 2001.

American Depositary Shares 
At 31 December 1999, the company had in issue through

The Bank of New York as Depositary, and listed on the NYSE,

26,432,475 (1998: 24,393,332) American Depositary Shares

(ADSs). Each ADS represents one-half of one ordinary share.

At 8 March 2000, there were 28,078,510 ADSs in issue and

listed on the NYSE (11 March 1999: 23,390,516).

Financial results
It was announced in the report for the quarter ended 31 March 1999

that the basis of the company’s financial reporting had been

changed to comply with International Accounting Standards (IAS)

with effect from 1 January 1999. The company had anticipated

this change in the basis of accounting and had prepared a

reconciliation between the financial statements prepared in

accordance with the appropriation method and those prepared

in accordance with IAS, which was disclosed in the 1998 financial

statements. The financial statements on pages 47 to 87 set out

fully the financial position, results of operations and cash flows

of the group and the company.

Dividends
Details of dividends declared on ordinary shares in respect of the

year under review are given in note 8 to the financial statements.

The company follows a full-payout dividend policy after investing

for long-term growth. This policy is reviewed by the board from

time to time in the light of the group’s cash requirements and

financial position.

Borrowing powers
The company’s borrowing powers are unlimited. At 31 December

1999 the group’s borrowings totalled R4,982.5 million

(1998: R989.1 million).

Investments
Particulars of the company’s principal subsidiaries and joint

venture interests are reflected on page 87. The following group

investments were sold during the year ended 31 December 1999:

No special resolutions of a material nature, requiring disclosure

in terms of the Listings Requirements of the Johannesburg Stock

Exchange (JSE), were passed by subsidiaries of the company

during the year under review.

Fixed assets
A schedule giving details of the group’s mining rights and property

is available for inspection at the company’s corporate office.

Acquisition of gold interests of Minorco
At a general meeting held on 3 February 1999, shareholders

approved the transaction for the acquisition by the company

of the gold interests of Minorco for a net cash consideration

of $494.4 million. Control passed from 1 January 1999 and

all conditions precedent had been met by 31 March 1999.

Australian Stock Exchange listing
The company was admitted to the Official List of the Australian

Stock Exchange (ASX) on 15 November 1999. The number of

ordinary shares of the company issued following the acquisition

of the entire issued share capital of Acacia trade on the ASX under

the symbol AGG. With effect from 25 January 2000 AngloGold has

been included in the ASX’s All Ordinaries Index and Gold Index of

which it represents approximately 0.11 per cent and 9.6 per cent

respectively.

Directorate
The names of the directors and the alternate director of the

company in office at the date of this report appear on

pages 35 and 36. 

Mr T C A Wadeson resigned from the board with effect from

1 January 2000 and Mr W A Nairn was appointed a director

from that date. The directors due to retire at the forthcoming

annual general meeting in terms of the company’s articles of

association are Mr F B Arisman, Dr J W Campbell, Mr R P Edey,

Mr R M Godsell and Mr W A Nairn, all of whom are eligible for 

re-election.
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Directors’ report (continued)

At the date of this report, the indirect beneficial interests of the

non-executive directors had decreased to 112,016 ordinary shares

and their non-beneficial interests remained unchanged.

At 31 December 1999, options and debentures held by executive

officers and senior management in terms of the share incentive

scheme were as follows:

Options Debentures

1999 1998 1999 1998

Executive officers 134,700 192,600 53,000 40,000

Senior managers 435,250 331,200 397,500 343,500

Total 569,950 523,800 450,500 383,500

Between the year end and the date of this report, a further

3,000 options and 22,000 debentures had been issued to executive

officers and senior managers.

Secretary

There has been no change in the offices of managing secretary

and company secretary whose names and business and postal

addresses are set out on page 92.

Interests of directors, executive officers

and senior managers

The interests of the present directors, in the ordinary share capital 

of the company at 31 December 1999 were as follows:

Directors

Non-executive Executive

31 December 1999

Ordinary shares:

Beneficial 507,829† 690

Non-beneficial – –

% of issued ordinary 

share capital 0.48 –

Held in terms of the share 

incentive scheme:

Options – 128,550

Debentures – 37,000

31 December 1998

Ordinary shares:

Beneficial 671,158* 690

Non-beneficial 161 –

% of issued ordinary 

share capital 0.69 –

Held in terms of the share 

incentive scheme:

Options – 135,400

Debentures – 37,000

† Includes indirect interest of 492,430 (*1998 : 656,229) ordinary

shares
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Accounting policies

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.

The group’s accounting policies set out below are consistent in all

material respects with those applied and published in the previous

year’s IAS financial statements except for the changes noted

below. The policies adopted comply with the standards issued by

the International Accounting Standards Committee and the South

African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Restatement of prior year
The group has adopted International Accounting Standard No. 37

(IAS 37) “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets”

with effect from 1 January 1998, prior to the effective date of this

statement. In accordance with IAS 37, full provision has been

made for the group’s estimated future decommissioning costs.

Previously the provision for environmental rehabilitation had

been built up on a units of production basis over the life of a mine.

A decommissioning asset has now been recognised in respect

of the net present value of future decommissioning costs and

is amortised using the units of production method over the life

of a mine. 

The decommissioning obligation is unwound over the life

of the mine and included in the income statement.

Estimated restoration costs are accrued and expensed

over the operating life of a mine using the units-of-production

method.

The implementation of IAS 37 had no unfavourable effect

on the current year’s income statement, when compared

to the rehabilitation provision raised in accordance with the

previous policy and the prior year adjustment is disclosed below:

Consolidation
The group financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the company, its subsidiaries and its proportionate

interest in joint ventures.

Where an investment in a subsidiary or a joint venture is acquired

or disposed of during the financial year, its results are included

from, or to the date control became, or ceased to be effective.

Where an investment in a subsidiary or a joint venture is made

during the financial year, any excess of the purchase price

compared with the fair value of the attributable net assets is

recognised as goodwill and amortised as an expense over the

lesser of life of mine or 20 years.

All inter-group transactions and balances are eliminated on

consolidation. Unearned profits that arise between group entities

are eliminated.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the

same reporting period as the holding company, using similar

accounting policies. 

Associates
Associates are long-term investments in which the group and the

company hold between 20 per cent and 50 per cent of the equity

and thereby has the ability to exercise significant influence over

those companies’ financial and operating policy decisions. The

post-acquisition results of associates are incorporated in the

group’s and the company’s financial statements, using the equity

method, from the effective dates of acquisition and up to the

effective dates of disposal.

The income statements include the group’s proportionate share

of the results of operations and the attributable share of taxation

thereon in net income of associates. 

Results of associates are equity accounted from their most

recent audited annual financial statements or unaudited interim

financial statements. Any losses of associates are brought to

account until the investment in and loans to such associates

are written down to a nominal amount. Thereafter, losses are

accounted for only insofar as the group is committed to

providing financial support to such associates.

Decom- Decom- Environ-
missioning Accumulated missioning Restoration mental Retained

SA Rands assets amortisation obligation obligation rehabilitation earnings

As at 31 December 1997 as previously reported 
inclusive of merger adjustment – – – – 551.4 1,279.6

Adjustment in respect of adoption of IAS 37 196.9 130.7 196.9 354.5 (551.4) 66.2

As restated at 31 December 1997 196.9 130.7 196.9 354.5 – 1,345.8

US Dollars

As at 31 December 1997 as previously reported 
inclusive of merger adjustment – – – – 113.2 260.5

Adjustment in respect of adoption of IAS 37 33.5 22.2 40.4 72.8 (113.2) 11.3

As restated at 31 December 1997 33.5 22.2 40.4 72.8 – 271.8



Accounting policies (continued)

The carrying values of the investments in associates represent

the cost of each investment, including unamortised goodwill,

the share of post-acquisition retained earnings and any other

movements in reserves. The carrying value is compared with

the associate’s market value or directors’ valuation. Where, in

the opinion of the directors, the value of an associate has been

permanently impaired below its carrying value, or the market

value has fallen below the carrying value over a sustained period,

a provision is made for such impairment in value.

Joint ventures
The group’s interest in the jointly controlled entities is accounted

for by proportionate consolidation which involves recognising

a proportionate share of the joint venture’s assets, liabilities,

income, expenses and cash flows with similar items in the

consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

Other investments 
All investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value

of the consideration given and including acquisition charges

associated with the investment. 

After initial recognition, investments which are held for a short

term are measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses

recognised in the income statements. 

Mining assets
Mining assets are recorded at cost of acquisition less accumulated

amortisation and amounts written off. Cost includes pre-

production expenditure incurred during the development of the

mine and in respect of decommissioning costs. Cost also includes

finance charges capitalised during the construction period where

such costs are financed by borrowings.

Mine development costs

Capitalised mine development costs include expenditure incurred

to develop new ore bodies, to define further mineralisation in

existing ore bodies and to expand the capacity of a mine.

Amortisation is first charged on new mining ventures from the

date on which production reaches commercial quantities. Mine

development costs are amortised using the units-of-production

method based on estimated proved and probable mineral reserves.

Proved and probable mineral reserves reflect estimated quantities

of economically recoverable reserves which can be recovered in

future from known mineral deposits.

Mine infrastructure

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are amortised using the lesser of their useful

life or units-of-production method based on estimated proved and

probable mineral reserves. 

Other 

Land

Land is not depreciated. 

Mineral rights, exploration costs and dumps

Mineral rights are amortised using the units-of-production method

based on estimated proved and probable mineral reserves. When

there is little likelihood of a mineral right being exploited, or the

value of an exploitable mineral right has diminished below cost,

an impairment write-down is effected. 

The cost of exploration programmes not anticipated to result in

additions to the group’s resources are expensed when incurred.

Dumps are amortised over the period of treatment.

Leased assets
Assets subject to finance leases are capitalised at cost with

the related lease obligation recognised at the same amount.

Capitalised leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Finance lease payments are allocated, using the effective interest

rate method, between the lease finance cost, which is included in

interest paid, and the capital repayment, which reduces the

liability to the lessor.

Operating lease rentals are charged against operating profits in

a systematic manner related to the period of use of the assets

concerned.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value

after appropriate provisions for redundant and slow moving items.

Cost is determined on the following bases:

– Gold on hand, uranium oxide and sulphuric acid are valued on

an average production cost method.

– Gold in process is valued at the average production cost at the

relevant stage of production.

– Consumable stores are valued at average cost.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation,

whether legal or constructive, as a result of a past event for which

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic

benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Environmental expenditure
Long-term environmental obligations comprising

decommissioning and restoration are based on the group’s
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environmental management plans, in compliance with the

current environmental and regulatory requirements.

Decommissioning costs

Provision is made for the net present value of the estimated future

decommissioning costs at the end of the operating life of a mine.

When this provision gives access to future economic benefits,

an asset is recognised and included within mining assets. The

unwinding of the decommissioning obligation is included in the

income statement. The estimated future cost of decommissioning

obligations are regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate

for new circumstances or changes in law or technology. The

estimates are discounted at a pre-tax rate that reflects current

market assessments of the time value of money. 

Restoration costs

Estimated restoration costs are accrued and expended over the

operating life of each mine using the units-of-production method

based on estimated proved and probable mineral reserves.

Expenditure on ongoing rehabilitation costs is brought to account

when incurred.

Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 

Annual contributions are made to the AngloGold Environmental

Rehabilitation Trust, created in accordance with the South African

statutory requirements, to fund the estimated cost of rehabilitation

during and at the end of the life of a mine. 

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the

economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can be

reliably measured. The following criteria must also be met before

revenue is recognised:

– The sale of mining products is recognised when the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the products are transferred

to the buyer. 

– Foreign currency derivative financial instruments are translated

at contract rates. Gains and losses on these contracts are

recognised in income as a component of the related sale

of mining products.

– Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment

is established. 

– Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking

account of the principal outstanding and the effective rate over

the period to maturity, when it is determined that such income

will accrue to the group. 

Post-retirement benefits
The costs of post-retirement benefits are made up of those

obligations which the group has towards current and retired

employees. These obligations can be separated into the following

categories, and are determined as follows:

Defined contribution plans

Pension and provident funds

Contributions to defined contribution plans in respect of

services during a current year are recognised as an expense

in that year.

Defined benefit plans

Pension funds

The current service cost in respect of defined benefit plans is

recognised as an expense in the current year. Past service costs,

experience adjustments, the effect of changes in actuarial

assumptions and the effects of plan amendments in respect

of existing employees are recognised as an expense or income

systematically over the expected remaining service period of

those employees.

Post-retirement medical aid obligation

The post-retirement medical aid obligation in respect of existing

employees is recognised as an expense systematically over the

expected remaining service period of those employees, using the

projected unit credit method. The liability in respect of retired

employees is recognised immediately as an expense.

Deferred taxation
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all

temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for

financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised, unless the deferred tax

liability arises from goodwill amortisation or the initial recognition

of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business

combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates

and interests in joint ventures, except where the timing of the

reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

For deductible temporary differences associated with investments

in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred

tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that

the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and

future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary

difference can be utilised.



Accounting policies (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary

differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax

losses, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit

will be available against which the deductible temporary

differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax

losses can be utilised (unless the deferred tax asset relating to the

deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition

of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business

combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss). 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each

balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer

probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at current

tax rates.

Hedging transactions
The group enters into financial transactions to ensure a degree of

price certainty and to guarantee a minimum revenue on a portion

of the planned gold production of its gold mines. Financial

instruments entered into in pursuit of this objective are

specifically designated as hedges of the planned future

production of the gold mines.

Gains and losses on gold hedging instruments that effectively

establish prices for future production, are recognised in

income at the earlier of any cash flow or delivery of the related

hedged production.

Hedged positions below current cost of production are recognised

in the period in which the loss arises.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by

reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with

similar maturity profiles. 

Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate

ruling on the transaction date. Assets and liabilities designated in

foreign currencies are translated at rates of exchange ruling at the

year end and any gains and losses arising are included in earnings.

The balance sheets and income statements of foreign subsidiaries

are translated on the following bases:

Foreign entities

Foreign entities do not form an integral part of the operations

of the group.

Assets and liabilities (both monetary and non-monetary) are

translated at the closing rate. Income statement items are

translated at a weighted average rate of exchange for the period.

Exchange differences are taken directly to a foreign currency

translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of

a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign

entity and are translated at the closing rate.

Foreign operations

Foreign operations form an integral part of the operations of

the group.

Monetary items of these operations are translated using the

closing rate of exchange. Non-monetary items are translated

at the rate of exchange at the historical transaction date. Income

statement items are translated at a weighted average rate of

exchange for the period. All exchange differences are taken

to the income statement for the period.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand, demand

deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments readily

convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant

risk of changes in value.

Cash on hand and in banks and short-term deposits which are

held to maturity are carried at cost. 

Translation into US dollars
To assist international investors, a translation of convenience into

the currency of the United States of America is provided. These

translations are based on average rates of exchange for income

statement items and at those ruling at the year end for the balance

sheet. The cash flow statement has been translated at average

rates to give effect to transaction based conversion.
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Group income statement
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

2,295.9 2,251.5 Turnover 1 13,755.5 12,615.8

2,240.6 2,205.2 Gold revenue 2 13,473.1 12,312.0

1,771.6 1,699.9 Cost of sales 3 10,385.6 9,703.5

469.0 505.3 Operating profit 3,087.5 2,608.5

41.5 26.4 Corporate administration and other expenses 161.4 226.8

10.0 14.8 Market development costs 90.6 55.2

4.7 7.0 Research and development costs 42.7 27.1

36.8 46.9 Exploration costs 286.8 203.5

376.0 410.2 Profit from operations 2,506.0 2,095.9

24.3 52.5 Interest paid 321.3 133.0

2.5 3.0 Unwinding of decommissioning obligation 18.1 13.8

46.0 71.4 Interest receivable 436.6 253.9

4.9 4.4 Growth in AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 26.3 27.4

50.8 7.1 Income from associates 4 43.2 267.5

2.4 0.7 Dividends received 4.8 13.4

– 4.2 Profit on sale of mining assets 25.6 –

(9.1) – Loss on sale of mine shafts – (107.3)

444.2 442.5 Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 5 2,703.1 2,404.0

126.7 37.2 Taxation 6 227.7 693.5

158.1 106.4 Current taxation 649.8 885.6

Deferred taxation

(31.4) 6.2 – Current 37.8 (192.1)

– (75.4) – Rate change (459.9) –

317.5 405.3 Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 2,475.4 1,710.5

– 88.7 Profit on sale of associate 543.2 –

– 55.1 Amortisation of goodwill 335.8 –

– 4.7 Minority interest 28.9 –

317.5 434.2 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,653.9 1,710.5

Earnings per ordinary share (cents) 7

324 441 – Basic 2,695 1,748

283 407 – Headline 2,485 1,568

324 407 – Diluted 2,489 1,748

264 328 Dividends per ordinary share (cents) 8 2,000 1,550

1.0 1.2 Dividend cover (headline earnings) 1.2 1.0

1998 1999 Notes 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands



Group balance sheet
at 31 December 1999
Figures in million

ASSETS

Non-current assets

1,981.6 2,901.4 Mining assets 9 17,857.1 11,654.1

– 221.7 Goodwill 10 1,364.6 –

137.9 12.9 Investments in associates 11 79.4 811.2

3.1 7.5 Other investments 12 45.9 18.0

37.2 44.5 AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 13 273.7 218.8

71.4 55.9 Long-term loans  14 343.9 419.8

2,231.2 3,243.9 19,964.6 13,121.9

Current assets

121.3 189.9 Inventories 15 1,169.0 713.7

145.1 222.9 Trade and other receivables 16 1,372.3 853.6

22.0 21.3 Current portion of loans advanced 14 131.0 129.3

253.6 492.5 Cash and cash equivalents 17 3,031.0 1,491.8

542.0 926.6 5,703.3 3,188.4

2,773.2 4,170.5 Total assets 18 25,667.9 16,310.3

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

900.0 1,275.8 Share capital and premium 19 7,852.4 5,292.9

29.4 29.5 Non-distributable reserves 20 181.6 172.7

262.0 367.9 Retained earnings 2,264.6 1,541.0

1,191.4 1,673.2 Shareholders’ equity 10,298.6 7,006.6

0.1 26.5 Minority interests 163.1 0.9

1,191.5 1,699.7 10,461.7 7,007.5

Non-current liabilities

126.7 679.3 Borrowings 21 4,180.7 745.1

15.7 18.7 Debentures 22 114.9 92.2

229.9 318.5 Provisions 23 1,959.9 1,352.8

733.1 710.9 Deferred taxation 24 4,375.5 4,311.6

1,105.4 1,727.4 10,631.0 6,501.7

Current liabilities

241.1 359.0 Trade and other payables 25 2,209.4 1,417.9

41.5 130.3 Current portion of borrowings 21 801.8 244.0

60.6 62.7 Taxation 385.9 356.4

133.1 191.4 Dividends 1,178.1 782.8

476.3 743.4 4,575.2 2,801.1

2,773.2 4,170.5 Total equity and liabilities 25,667.9 16,310.3

1998 1999 Notes 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands
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Group cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

Cash flows from operating activities

579.0 599.4 Cash generated from operations 27 3,662.3 3,223.2

(24.3) (52.5) Interest paid (321.3) (133.0)

(2.5) (3.0) Unwinding of decommissioning obligation (18.1) (13.8)

46.0 71.4 Interest receivable 436.6 253.9

4.9 4.4 Growth in AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 26.3 27.4

4.8 5.4 Dividends received from associates 32.9 26.3

2.4 0.7 Dividends received 4.8 13.4

(258.0) (272.3) Dividends paid (1,663.6) (1,414.3)

(112.1) (100.9) Mining and normal taxation paid (616.4) (614.8)

240.2 252.6 Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,543.5 1,368.3

Cash flows from investing activities

(173.9) (217.6) Purchase of mining assets (1,329.0) (958.8)

73.2 2.5 Proceeds from sale of mining assets 15.0 402.8

(6.1) (2.0) Investments acquired (12.7) (33.7)

– (468.3) Acquisition of subsidiaries 28 (2,883.1) –

7.6 220.5 Proceeds from sale of investments 1,347.0 41.4

(99.2) (464.9) Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,862.8) (548.3)

Cash flows from financing activities

0.5 3.5 Proceeds from issue of share capital 21.3 2.9

(20.7) (6.9) Share issue expenses (42.3) (113.4)

12.7 517.9 Proceeds from borrowings 3,164.0 69.4

(34.2) (42.7) Repayment of borrowings (260.6) (187.4)

(18.8) (8.2) Loans advanced (50.0) (103.2)

– 23.4 Repayment of loans advanced 142.9 –

(60.5) 487.0 Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 2,975.3 (331.7)

80.5 274.7 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,656.0 488.3

(66.0) (35.8) Translation adjustment (116.8) (161.0)

239.1 253.6 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,491.8 1,164.5

253.6 492.5 Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3,031.0 1,491.8

1998 1999 Notes 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands



Group statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

SA Rands 

Balance as previously reported 48.9 5,302.5 – 1,208.9 6,560.3

Merger adjustments 25.4 70.7 96.1

Change in accounting policy 66.2 66.2

Restated balance at 31 December 1997 48.9 5,327.9 – 1,345.8 6,722.6

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 1,710.5 1,710.5

Dividends (note 8) (1,515.3) (1,515.3)

Shares issued 2.9 2.9

Share issue expenses written off (86.8) (86.8)

Transfer to non-distributable reserves (note 20) 172.7 172.7

Balance at 31 December 1998 48.9 5,244.0 172.7 1,541.0 7,006.6

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,653.9 2,653.9

Dividends (note 8) (2,058.9) (2,058.9)

Shares issued 4.4 2,597.4 2,601.8

Share issue expenses written off (42.3) (42.3)

Transfer to non-distributable reserves (note 20) 8.9 (7.6) 1.3

Translation adjustment 136.2 136.2

Balance at 31 December 1999 53.3 7,799.1 181.6 2,264.6 10,298.6

US Dollars

Balance as previously reported 10.0 1,088.5 – 246.2 1,344.7

Merger adjustments 4.3 14.3 18.6

Change in accounting policy 11.3 11.3

Restated balance at 31 December 1997 10.0 1,092.8 – 271.8 1,374.6

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 317.5 317.5

Dividends (note 8) (256.6) (256.6)

Shares issued 0.6 0.6

Share issue expenses written off (16.1) (16.1)

Transfer to non-distributable reserves (note 20) 29.4 29.4

Translation adjustment (1.7) (185.6) – (70.7) (258.0)

Balance at 31 December 1998 8.3 891.7 29.4 262.0 1,191.4

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 434.2 434.2

Dividends (note 8) (337.4) (337.4)

Shares issued 0.7 425.1 425.8

Share issue expenses written off (6.9) (6.9)

Transfer to non-distributable reserves (note 20) 1.4 (1.2) 0.2

Translation adjustment (0.3) (42.8) (1.3) 10.3 (34.1)

Balance at 31 December 1999 8.7 1,267.1 29.5 367.9 1,673.2

Ordinary Ordinary Non-

share share distributable Retained

capital premium reserves earnings Total
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Notes to the group financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

1 Turnover 
Turnover comprises the sale of mining products 

2,295.9 2,251.5 inclusive of gold, silver, uranium and sulphuric acid 13,755.5 12,615.8

2 Gold revenue 
2,172.4 2,196.3 – Normal 13,418.8 11,964.0

68.2 8.9 – Accelerated hedge 54.3 348.0

2,240.6 2,205.2 13,473.1 12,312.0

Details of geographical segments are as follows:
2,184.6 1,809.5 South Africa 11,055.3 12,002.9

56.0 80.6 Rest of Africa 492.2 309.1
– 151.7 North America 926.5 –
– 163.4 South America 999.1 –

2,240.6 2,205.2 13,473.1 12,312.0

3 Cost of sales 
1,495.0 1,477.5 Cash costs 9,027.4 8,202.4

68.2 9.4 Retrenchment costs 57.7 348.0
17.7 18.5 Rehabilitation and other non-cash costs 112.1 107.2

1,580.9 1,505.4 Production costs 9,197.2 8,657.6
148.1 196.3 Amortisation of mining assets (note 5) 1,199.3 814.6

1,729.0 1,701.7 Total production costs 10,396.5 9,472.2
42.6 (1.8) Inventory change (10.9) 231.3

1,771.6 1,699.9 10,385.6 9,703.5

4 Income from associates
99.3 24.6 Gold revenue 150.2 523.1
86.8 19.1 Cost of sales 116.7 457.1

12.5 5.5 Profit from operations 33.5 66.0
38.3 1.6 Other operating income 9.7 201.5

50.8 7.1 Profit before taxation 43.2 267.5
3.9 (4.1) Taxation (25.3) 20.9

3.0 1.9 – Normal taxation (note 6) 11.6 16.0
0.9 (6.0) – Deferred taxation (note 6) (36.9) 4.9

46.9 11.2 Net profit after taxation 68.5 246.6

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands



Notes to the group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

5 Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 
is arrived at after taking account of: 

0.9 0.7 Auditors’ remuneration 4.0 4.8

0.7 0.6 – Audit fees 3.7 3.7
0.2 0.1 – Other services 0.3 1.1

148.1 196.3 Amortisation of mining assets (note 9) 1,199.3 814.6

148.1 194.5 – Owned assets 1,188.6 814.6
– 1.8 – Leased assets 10.7 –

6.3 1.0 Charge for post-retirement medical aid obligation (note 23) 6.4 34.5
7.5 14.2 Charge for restoration provision (note 23) 86.8 41.0
0.9 0.9 Grants for educational and community development 5.2 4.8

– 0.3 Operating lease charges 1.7 –

866.7 850.2 Employee costs 5,194.7 4,679.9

741.6 769.1 – Salaries and wages 4,698.9 4,004.9
54.0 63.0 – Contribution to retirement benefits 385.2 291.6
2.9 8.7 – Post-retirement medical benefit costs 52.9 35.4

68.2 9.4 – Retrenchment payments 57.7 348.0

The average monthly number of employees, including 
contractors’ employees, during the year was made up as follows: 86,226 93,316

– Surface 18,821 18,462
– Underground 67,405 74,854

6 Taxation
158.1 106.4 Current taxation 649.8 885.6

58.3 11.3 – Mining taxation 69.0 319.0
96.8 87.0 – Non-mining taxation 531.4 550.6

– (2.0) – Over provision prior years (12.5) –
– 8.2 – Secondary tax on companies 50.3 –

3.0 1.9 – Share of associates taxation (note 4) 11.6 16.0

(31.4) (69.2) Deferred taxation (422.1) (192.1)

(32.3) 6.2 – Current (note 24) 37.8 (197.0)
– (69.4) – Rate change (note 24) (423.0) –

0.9 (6.0) – Share of associates taxation (note 4) (36.9) 4.9

126.7 37.2 227.7 693.5

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands
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6 Taxation (continued)
Taxation reconciliation
A reconciliation of the marginal tax rate 
compared with that charged in the income statement is set 
out in the following table:

49.8 40.0 Marginal tax rate 40.0 49.8
– 1.9 Secondary tax on companies 1.9 –

49.8 41.9 41.9 49.8
3.5 4.5 Disallowable expenditure 4.5 3.5

16.4 17.6 Write back of amortisation and inventory change 17.6 16.4
(11.4) (13.0) Mining capital allowances (13.0) (11.4)
(3.6) (4.5) Mining tax formula adjustment (4.5) (3.6)
(0.4) (0.4) Growth in AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust (0.4) (0.4)
(5.8) (0.1) Dividends received (0.1) (5.8)

– (6.4) Foreign income tax allowances (6.4) –
– (15.4) Change in tax rate (15.4) –

(19.7) (15.8) Other (15.8) (19.7)

28.8 8.4 Effective tax rate 8.4 28.8

1998 1999 1999 1998

% %



Notes to the group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

7 Earnings per ordinary share

Basic

The calculation of earnings per ordinary share is based 

on earnings of R2,653.9, $434.2 (1998: R1,710.5, $317.5) 

and 98,461,191 (1998: 97,842,263) being the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 

financial year. 

Headline

Headline earnings removes items of a capital nature 

from the calculation of earnings per share. The headline 

earnings per ordinary share have been based on the same 

number of weighted average number of ordinary shares in 

issue as the basic earnings per ordinary share calculation. 

The basic earnings have been adjusted by the following 

to arrive at headline earnings:

317.5 434.2 Basic earnings 2,653.9 1,710.5

– (88.7) Less: Profit on sale of associate (543.2) –

(49.7) – Surplus on disposal of investment by associate – (284.0)

– 55.1 Add: Goodwill written off 335.8 –

9.1 – Loss on sale of mine shafts – 107.3

276.9 400.6 Headline earnings 2,446.5 1,533.8

Diluted

The calculation of diluted earnings per ordinary share is based 

on earnings of R2,653.9, $434.2 (1998: R1,710.5, $317.5) 

and 106,614,678 (1998: 97,853,199) being the diluted 

number of ordinary shares. 

8 Dividends

Ordinary shares 

No. 86 of 900 SA cents (149 US cents) per ordinary 

share declared on 3 August 1999 and paid 

123.5 145.9 on 23 September 1999. 880.8 732.5

No. 87 of 1,100 SA cents (179 US cents) per ordinary  

share declared on 9 February 2000 and payable 

133.1 191.5 on 31 March 2000. 1,178.1 782.8

256.6 337.4 2,058.9 1,515.3

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands
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9 Mining assets
SA Rands 
Cost 
Owned assets 
Balance at 31 December 1998 12,771.6 4,673.8 367.3 196.9 35.1 18,044.7 
Additions 1,187.3 132.8 7.7 – 1.2 1,329.0 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 3,135.9 5,174.8 274.0 82.2 75.6 8,742.5 
Transfers, amounts written off and disposals 58.1 (112.3) – – (0.8) (55.0) 

Balance at 31 December 1999 17,152.9 9,869.1 649.0 279.1 111.1 28,061.2 

Capitalised leased assets 
Balance at 31 December 1998 – – – – – –
Additions – 17.8 – – – 17.8 
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 26.3 – – – 26.3 
Disposals – (0.1) – – – (0.1) 

Balance at 31 December 1999 – 44.0 – – – 44.0 

Accumulated amortisation 
Owned assets 
Balance at 31 December 1998 4,004.2 2,240.6 15.1 130.7 – 6,390.6
Amortisation charge for the year (note 5) 766.4 382.2 30.6 8.7 0.7 1,188.6 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 499.7 2,124.2 32.6 36.0 5.4 2,697.9 
Transfers, amounts written off and disposals 57.9 (97.5) 0.3 – (0.4) (39.7) 

Balance at 31 December 1999 5,328.2 4,649.5 78.6 175.4 5.7 10,237.4 

Capitalised leased assets 
Balance at 31 December 1998 – – – – – –
Amortisation charge for the year (note 5) – 10.7 – – – 10.7 

Balance at 31 December 1999 – 10.7 – – – 10.7 

Net book value at 31 December 1998 8,767.4 2,433.2 352.2 66.2 35.1 11,654.1 
Net book value at 31 December 1999 11,824.7 5,252.9 570.4 103.7 105.4 17,857.1

US Dollars
Cost 
Owned assets 
Balance at 31 December 1998 2,171.5 794.8 62.4 33.5 6.0 3,068.2 
Additions 202.0 21.7 1.3 – 0.2 225.2 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 506.0 847.0 44.8 13.5 12.4 1,423.7 
Transfers, amounts written off and disposals 9.5 (18.4) – – (0.1) (9.0) 
Translation adjustment (102.0) (41.5) (3.1) (1.7) (0.4) (148.7) 

Balance at 31 December 1999 2,787.0 1,603.6 105.4 45.3 18.1 4,559.4 

Capitalised leased assets 
Balance at 31 December 1998 – – – – – –
Additions – 2.9 – – – 2.9 
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 4.3 – – – 4.3 
Disposals – – – – – –
Translation adjustment – (0.1) – – – (0.1) 

Balance at 31 December 1999 – 7.1 – – – 7.1 

Accumulated amortisation 
Owned assets 
Balance at 31 December 1998 680.7 380.8 2.6 22.2 – 1,086.3 
Amortisation charge for the year (note 5) 125.4 62.6 5.0 1.4 0.1 194.5 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 81.8 347.7 5.3 5.9 0.9 441.6 
Transfers, amounts written off and disposals 9.5 (16.0) – – (0.1) (6.6) 
Translation adjustment (31.7) (19.7) (0.1) (1.0) – (52.5) 

Balance at 31 December 1999 865.7 755.4 12.8 28.5 0.9 1,663.3 

Capitalised leased assets 
Balance at 31 December 1998 – – – – – –
Amortisation charge for the year (note 5) – 1.8 – – – 1.8 

Balance at 31 December 1999 – 1.8 – – – 1.8 

Net book value at 31 December 1998 1,490.8 414.0 59.8 11.3 6.0 1,981.9
Net book value at 31 December 1999 1,921.3 853.5 92.6 16.8 17.2 2,901.4 

Mine Mine Mineral rights, Decom- Land

develop- infra- dumps and missioning and

ment structure exploration assets buildings Total



Notes to the group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

10 Goodwill
– – Balance at 31 December 1998 – –
– 282.5 On acquisition of subsidiaries 1,700.4 –
– 55.1 Amortisation  335.8 –
– 0.5 Translation adjustment  

– 221.7 Balance at 31 December 1999 1,364.6 –

11 Investments in associates
Carrying value consists of: 

100.5 12.9 Shares at cost 79.4 590.9
44.9 – Profit after taxation – 246.6
(4.8) – Dividends – (26.3)
(2.7) – Translation adjustment 

137.9 12.9 Carrying value  79.4 811.2

211.6 – Market value of listed associate – 1,244.6
13.5 12.9 Directors’ value of unlisted associate 79.4 79.4

12 Other investments
Listed investments 

1.0 – Balance at 31 December 1998 – 5.0
– 0.5 Acquisition of subsidiaries 3.1 –
– – Additions 0.2 –

(1.0) – Disposals – (5.0)

– 0.5 Balance at 31 December 1999 3.3 –

– 1.0 Market value of listed investments 6.3 –

Unlisted investments 
3.6 3.1 Balance at 31 December 1998 18.0 15.9
0.6 2.0 Additions 12.5 3.8

– 3.9 Acquisition of subsidiaries 23.9 –
(0.3) (1.9) Disposals (11.8) (1.7)
(0.8) (0.1) Translation adjustment 

3.1 7.0 Balance at 31 December 1999 42.6 18.0

16.8 7.5 Directors’ value of unlisted investments 42.6 98.6

3.1 7.5 Total other investments 45.9 18.0

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands
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13 AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 

37.1 37.2 Balance at 31 December 1998 218.8 180.5 

(3.2) – Work completed – (17.7) 

5.3 4.7 Contributions 28.6 28.6 

4.9 4.4 Growth in AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 26.3 27.4 

(6.9) (1.8) Translation adjustment 

37.2 44.5 Balance at 31 December 1999 273.7 218.8 

Market value of investments held in the AngloGold Environmental

35.9 46.3 Rehabilitation Trust 284.9 211.1 

14 Long-term loans – unsecured 

65.2 44.3 Loans to joint venture partners 272.7 383.6 

Loan to AngloGold Limited Employee Share and Debenture Trust 

on which interest is payable annually at the official interest rate 

15.7 18.7 per the seventh schedule of the Income Tax Act (note 22) 114.9 92.2

12.5 14.2 Other  87.3 73.3 

93.4 77.2 474.9 549.1 

Less: Current portion of long-term loans included in current 

22.0 21.3 assets 131.0 129.3 

71.4 55.9 Total long-term loans 343.9 419.8 

15 Inventories 

At cost 

48.8 100.8 Gold in process 620.0 287.3

– 8.2 Gold on hand 50.6 –

20.7 16.3 By-products 100.6 121.2

69.5 125.3 Total metal inventories 771.2 408.5

51.8 64.6 Consumable stores 397.8 305.2

121.3 189.9 1,169.0 713.7

16 Trade and other receivables 

14.8 82.0 Trade debtors 504.7 86.8

26.4 11.7 Prepayments and accrued income 71.7 155.5

27.0 19.7 South African Revenue Services – Value added taxation 121.3 158.6

76.9 109.5 Other debtors 674.6 452.7

145.1 222.9 1,372.3 853.6

17 Cash and cash equivalents 

Consists of cash on hand, balances with banks, deposits

253.6 492.5 on call and short-term money market investments 3,031.0 1,491.8 

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands



Notes to the group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

18 Total assets by geographical segments
2,568.4 2,719.9 South Africa 16,739.7 15,105.2

204.8 204.9 Rest of Africa 1,261.0 1,205.1
– 368.5 North America 2,268.2 –
– 454.1 South America 2,795.0 –
– 423.1 Australia 2,604.0 –

2,773.2 4,170.5 25,667.9 16,310.3

19 Share capital and premium 
Share capital
Authorised 

30.0 30.0 200,000,000 ordinary shares of 50 cents each 100.0 100.0
0.3 0.3 2,000,000 A redeemable preference shares of 50 cents each 1.0 1.0

– – 5,000,000 B redeemable preference shares of 1 cent each 0.1 0.1

30.3 30.3 101.1 101.1

Issued 
106,614,678 (1998: 97,853,199) ordinary shares of 50 cents each 

10.0 8.3 Balance at 31 December 1998 48.9 48.9
– 0.7 Issue of shares 4.4 –

(1.7) (0.3) Translation adjustment 

8.3 8.7 Balance at 31 December 1999 53.3 48.9

0.3 0.3 2,000,000 A redeemable preference shares of 50 cents each 1.0 1.0
– – 778,896 B redeemable preference shares of 1 cent each – –

0.3 0.3 1.0 1.0

(0.3) (0.3) Less: Held within the group (1.0) (1.0)

– – Balance at 31 December 1999 – –

Share premium 
1,146.4 944.8 Balance at 31 December 1998 5,556.2 5,640.1

0.6 425.1 Movement arising from issue of shares 2,597.4 2.9
(16.1) (6.9) Share issue expenses written off (42.3) (86.8)

(186.1) (42.8) Translation adjustment 

944.8 1,320.2 Balance at 31 December 1999 8,111.3 5,556.2

(53.1) (53.1) Less: Held within the group (312.2) (312.2)

891.7 1,267.1 Balance at 31 December 1999 7,799.1 5,244.0

900.0 1,275.8 Share capital and premium 7,852.4 5,292.9

20 Non-distributable reserves 

– 1.3 Foreign equity reserve 8.3 –

5.3 5.2 Foreign currency translation reserve 31.9 31.3

24.1 23.0 Disposal of company shares held within the group 141.4 141.4

29.4 29.5 181.6 172.7

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands
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21 Borrowings 
Unsecured loans 

– 356.7 Dresdner Gold Loan 2,195.6 –
The gold loan has been swapped with a dollar-based facility. Interest 
charged at libor plus 0.9% per annum. Loan is repayable after two 
years terminating in March 2001 

– 151.8 Dresdner Bank Luxembourg S.A. 934.2 –
Interest charged at libor plus 2% per annum. Loan is  
repayable after three years terminating in March 2002 

– 77.8 Chase Manhattan Group 479.0 –
Interest charged at libor plus 3.75% per annum. Loan is 
repayable after three years terminating in December 2002 

100.4 71.5 Loans from Anmercosa Finance Limited 439.8 590.1
Interest charged at libor plus 2% per annum. Loan is repayable 
in eight half-yearly instalments terminating in May 2002

– 32.6 Unibanco 200.8 –
Interest charged at libor plus 3.25% per annum. Loan is repayable 
in two yearly instalments terminating in August 2001

46.0 31.0 Semos Senior Lenders 191.1 270.1
Interest charged at libor plus 3.50% per annum. Loan is repayable 
in six half-yearly instalments terminating in May 2002

Syndicated loan facility 
– 26.3 Interest charged at BBSW plus 0.45% per annum. Loan is 161.7 –

repayable in three yearly instalments terminating in September 2002

– 23.0 J.P. Morgan Gold Loan 141.7 –
Interest charged at 3.25% per annum. Loan is repayable in 
February 2000 

19.5 20.1 Loan from Anmercosa Finance Limited 123.9 115.0
Interest charged at libor plus 1% per annum. Loan is repayable 
by December 2002

– 8.3 Sudamaris Gold Loan 51.0 –
Interest charged at libor plus 2.10% per annum. Loan is repayable 
in June 2000

– 6.0 Senstar Capital Corporation 36.9 –
Interest charged at libor plus 3.75% per annum. Loan is repayable 
in ten half-yearly instalments terminating in September 2004

1.8 1.8 Loan from the Economic Development Corporation Limited 10.8 13.8
Interest charged at libor plus 0.60% per annum. Loan is repayable 
in six half-yearly instalments terminating in December 2002

0.5 2.7 Other 16.0 0.1

168.2 809.6 Total borrowings 4,982.5 989.1
Less: Current portion of borrowings included in current 

41.5 130.3 liabilities 801.8 244.0

126.7 679.3 Total long-term borrowings 4,180.7 745.1

Amounts falling due
41.5 333.7 Between one and two years 2,053.6 244.0

126.7 318.3 Between two and five years 1,959.0 745.1
– 157.6 In five years or more 969.9 –

168.2 809.6 4,982.5 989.1

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands



Notes to the group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

22 Debentures 
– 15.7 Balance at 31 December 1998 92.2 –

15.7 5.5 Allocations during the year 33.4 92.2
– (1.8) Exercised during the year (10.7) –
– (0.7) Translation adjustment 

15.7 18.7 Balance at 31 December 1999 (note 14) 114.9 92.2

487,500 (1998: 420,500) unsecured variable rate compulsory con-
vertible debentures issued in terms of the AngloGold Limited 
Share Incentive Scheme.

Interest on these debentures is payable annually at the official 
interest rate per the seventh schedule of the Income Tax Act. 

The terms and conditions of the debentures are detailed
in the directors’ report. 

23 Provisions 

Post-retirement medical aid obligation 
146.2 126.9 Balance at 31 December 1998 746.6 712.1

– 5.9 Acquired through subsidiaries  36.0 –
6.3 1.0 Charge to the income statement (note 5) 6.4 34.5

– (4.2) Less: Utilised during the year (25.8) –
(25.6) (5.5) Translation adjustment 

126.9 124.1 Balance at 31 December 1999 763.2 746.6

Environmental rehabilitation obligations 
Provision for decommissioning

40.4 35.8 Balance at 31 December 1998 210.7 196.9
– 25.3 Acquired through subsidiaries 154.3 –

2.5 3.0 Unwinding of decommissioning obligation 18.1 13.8
(7.1) (1.9) Translation adjustment 

35.8 62.2 Balance at 31 December 1999 383.1 210.7

Provision for restoration
72.8 67.2 Balance at 31 December 1998 395.5 354.5

– 54.2 Acquired through subsidiaries 331.3 –
7.5 14.2 Charge to income statement (note 5) 86.8 41.0

(13.1) (3.4) Translation adjustment 

67.2 132.2 Balance at 31 December 1999 813.6 395.5

229.9 318.5 Total provisions 1,959.9 1,352.8

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands
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23 Provisions (continued)
Future value of decommissioning obligations are estimated at:

170.7 163.2 South African operations 1,004.5 1,004.5
– – African operations – –
– 68.2 North American operations 419.8 –
– 27.0 South American operations 166.2 –
– 31.7 Australian operations 194.8 –

170.7 290.1 1,785.3 1,004.5

The decommissioning obligations will be funded on the 
following basis:

South African operations
The creation of the AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust. 
Annual contributions are made to the AngloGold Environmental 
Rehabilitation Trust to fund the estimated cost of rehabilitation 
during and at the end of the life of a mine.

Balance of AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 
37.2 44.5 at 31 December 1999. 273.7 218.8

African operations
The obligation will be funded from existing cash resources 
and future cash flows.

North American operations
The obligation will be funded from existing cash resources and 
future cash flows.

South American operations
The obligation will be funded from existing cash resources 
and future cash flows.

Australian operations
Securities were given to government departments directly for 
satisfactory contract performance in relation to environmental 

– 7.8 rehabilitation. 48.1 –

37.2 52.3 321.8 218.8

24 Deferred taxation 
Deferred taxation relating to temporary differences is 
made up as follows: 
Deferred taxation liabilities 

819.9 810.4 Mining assets 4,987.6 4,822.1
23.3 14.2 Inventories 87.5 136.8

4.0 4.8 Other 29.7 23.6

847.2 829.4 5,104.8 4,982.5
Deferred taxation assets 

114.1 118.5 Provisions 729.3 670.9

733.1 710.9 Net deferred taxation 4,375.5 4,311.6

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands



Notes to the group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

24 Deferred taxation (continued)
The movement on the deferred tax balance is as follows: 

926.7 733.1 Balance at 31 December 1998 4,311.6 4,508.6
– 73.5 Acquisition of subsidiaries 449.1 –

(32.3) 6.2 Income statement charge (note 6) 37.8 (197.0)
– (69.4) Taxation rate change (note 6) (423.0) –

(161.3) (32.5) Translation adjustment 

733.1 710.9 Balance at 31 December 1999 based on the liability method 4,375.5 4,311.6

If partial provision had been made for deferred taxation the
684.5 615.4 taxation liability would have decreased by 3,787.3 4,026.0

Balance at 31 December 1999 based on the partial 
48.6 95.5 provision for deferred taxation 588.2 285.6

25 Trade and other payables 
84.4 110.9 Trade creditors 682.7 496.5
88.7 153.8 Accruals 946.3 521.6
68.0 94.3 Other creditors 580.4 399.8

241.1 359.0 2,209.4 1,417.9

26 Retirement benefits 
The group has made provision for pension and provident schemes covering substantially all employees. Eligible employees are members
of either AngloGold’s defined benefit fund or one of the industry-based defined contribution funds. There is one defined benefit scheme
and three defined contribution schemes. The assets of these schemes are held in administered trust funds separated from the group’s
assets. Scheme assets primarily consist of listed shares, property trust units and fixed income securities. 

South African operations
The AngloGold Pension Fund, a defined benefit scheme, was formed in September 1998 when it was separated from the Anglo American
Group and the Anglo American Corporation Pension Funds. At the last evaluation of the relevant Anglo American Group Pension Funds at
January 1998 the scheme was certified by the reporting actuaries as being in a sound financial position, subject to the continuation of
their current contribution rates. In arriving at their conclusions, the actuaries took into account reasonable long-term estimates of
inflation, increases in wages, salaries and pensions and returns on investments. The last valuation of these funds, plus the assets of the
Anglo American Corporation Pension Fund transferred, showed a determined fair value of the combined assets of the scheme of R420.9,
$68.4 which compares to the market value of R420.9, $68.4. This was more than sufficient to cover the benefits that will accrue to
members, allowing for future increases in earnings, amounting to R411.7, $66.9. The AngloGold Pension Fund will be evaluated in 2000
and thereafter evaluations will take place at intervals of not more than three years using the projected benefit method.

Any deficits in the defined benefit scheme advised by the actuaries are funded either immediately or through increased contributions to
ensure the ongoing soundness of the scheme. Contributions to the various retirement schemes are fully expensed during the year in
which they are funded and the cost of providing retirement benefit for the year amounted to R352.8, $57.7 (1998: R286.9, $52.3).

All funds are governed by the Pension Fund Act of 1956.

North American operations
The AngloGold Pension Fund, a deferred contribution scheme, was incorporated during the year with the purchase of the Minorco assets
in January 1999.

The last evaluation was done in December 1999 and the scheme was certified by the reporting actuaries as being in a sound financial
position, subject to the continuation of the current contribution rates. In arriving at their conclusions, the actuaries took into account
reasonable long-term estimates of inflation, increases in wages, salaries and pensions and returns on investment. This evaluation of the
fund reflected a fair value of the net assets of the scheme at R55.8, $9.1, which compares to the market value of R56.7, $9.2. This is
more than sufficient to cover the future increases of the current obligations amounting to R18.5, $3.0. This pension fund is evaluated on
an annual basis using the projected benefit method.

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands

66



67

26 Retirement benefits (continued)

North American operations (continued)
Any deficits in the defined benefit scheme advised by the actuaries are funded either immediately or through increased contributions to
ensure the ongoing soundness of the scheme. Contributions to the various retirement schemes are fully expensed during the year in
which they are funded and the cost of providing retirement benefit for the year amounted to R21.4, $3.5.

The AngloGold North America Inc. Retirement Plan and the AngloGold North America Inc. Retiree Medical Plan were incorporated during
the year with the purchase of the Minorco assets in January 1999.

Retirement Plan – Substantially all AngloGold North America employees are covered by the AngloGold North America Inc. Retirement Plan
(the “Plan”), a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan. Benefits are based on years of service and the employee’s average monthly
compensation. AngloGold North America’s funding policy is to contribute annually an amount equal to or exceeding the minimum funding
requirements under The Employee Retirement Income Security Act, but not more than the maximum tax deductible contribution.

Effective 31 December 1999 the benefits of the Plan participants were frozen. The Plan is expected to be terminated during 2000.
Curtailment accounting has been applied to the Plan at 31 December 1999.

Post-retirement benefits – AngloGold North America provides healthcare and life insurance benefits for retired employees under the
AngloGold North America Retiree Medical Plan (the “Retiree Medical Plan”). Participants with ten to fifteen years of service generally
become eligible after reaching retirement age, and AngloGold North America pays a fixed monthly amount that varies based on years
of service. Post-retirement benefits are not funded.

Effective 31 December 1999 no additional employees will become eligible to receive post-retirement benefits under the Retiree Medical
Plan. The Retiree Medical plan is expected to be terminated in 2000. Curtailment accounting has been applied to the Plan at
31 December 1999.

The Retirement Plan and the Retiree Medical Plan were last evaluated by independent actuaries in December 1999 who took into account
reasonable long-term estimates of inflation, increases in wages, salaries and pensions and returns on investment in determining the
obligations of AngloGold North America under the plans. This evaluation of the Retirement Plan reflected a fair value of the Plan assets
of the scheme at R97.2, $15.8 and Plan liabilities of R104.0, $16.9. This evaluation of the Retiree Medical Plan reflected Plan liabilities of
R11.7, $1.9. The Retiree Medical Plan is an unfunded plan. Upon termination of the Retirement Plan and Retiree Medical Plan in 2000, any
differences between the fair value of assets and liabilities of the Plans will be settled in cash. The Retirement Plan and the Retiree Medical
Plan are evaluated on an annual basis using the projected benefit method.

The cost of providing benefits under the Retirement Plan and the Retiree Medical Plan for the year amounted to R14.2, $2.3 and R5.5,
$0.9, respectively.

Defined Contribution Plan – AngloGold North America sponsors a 401(k) savings plan whereby employees may contribute up to 16% of
their salary, of which up to 5% is matched by AngloGold North America. AngloGold North America’s contributions were R9.8, $1.6 during
the year ended December 1999.

Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan – Certain former employees of Minorco (USA) Inc. were covered under the Minorco (USA) Inc.
Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (the “SERP”), a non-contributory defined benefit plan. The SERP was last evaluated by
independent actuaries in December 1999 who took into account reasonable long-term estimates of inflation, increases in wages, salaries
and pensions and returns on investment in determining the obligations of AngloGold North America under the SERP. This evaluation of
the SERP reflected Plan liabilities of R4.9, $0.8. The SERP is an unfunded plan. The SERP is evaluated on an annual basis using the
projected benefit method. The cost of providing benefits under the SERP for the year amounted to R2.5, $0.4.

South American operations
The South American operations operate a number of defined contribution and defined benefit retirement arrangements for their employees.
These arrangements are funded by the operation and are embodied in a pension plan entity, Fundambrás Sociedade de Previdência Privada,
which is responsible for administering the funds and making arrangements to pay the benefits. In accordance with the annual valuation of
the pension fund, performed by independent qualified actuaries, there is no material deficit to be covered by the operation.

Australian operations
The operation contributes to the Australian Retirement Fund for the provision of benefits to employees and their dependents on
retirement, disability, death, resignation or retrenchment. The fund is a multi-industry national fund with defined contribution
arrangements. Contribution rates by the operation on behalf of employees varies; with minimum contributions meeting compliance
requirements under the Superannuation Guarantee legislation. Members also have the option of contributing to approved personal
superannuation funds. The operations contributions are legally enforceable to the extent required by the Superannuation Guarantee
legislation and relevant employment agreements.



Notes to the group financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

27 Cash generated from operations 
444.2 442.5 Profit on ordinary activities before taxation  2,703.1 2,404.0 

Adjusted for: 
16.2 5.0 Non-cash movements 30.6 98.7 

148.1 196.3 Amortisation of mining assets 1,199.3 814.6 
24.3 52.5 Interest paid 321.3 133.0 
2.5 3.0 Unwinding of decommissioning obligation 18.1 13.8 

(46.0) (71.4) Interest receivable (436.6) (253.9) 
(50.8) (7.1) Income from associates (43.2) (267.5) 
(4.9) (4.4) Growth in AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust (26.3) (27.4) 
(2.4) (0.7) Dividends received (4.8) (13.4) 

– (4.2) Profit on sale of mining assets (25.6) – 
9.1 – Loss on sale of mine shafts – 107.3 

38.7 (12.1) Movements in working capital (73.6) 214.0 

579.0 599.4 3,662.3 3,223.2 

Movements in working capital 
45.6 4.1 Decrease in inventories 25.2 252.0 
1.3 (4.5) (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (27.5) 7.1 

(8.2) (11.7) Decrease in trade and other payables (71.3) (45.1) 

38.7 (12.1) (73.6) 214.0 

28 Acquisition of subsidiaries 
– 982.1 Mining assets  6,044.6 –
– 4.4 Investments 27.0 –
– 0.3 Long-term loans 1.9 –
– 78.1 Inventories 480.5 –
– 79.8 Trade and other receivables 491.2 –
– 48.4 Cash and cash equivalents 297.7 –
– (28.7) Minority interests (176.6) –
– (182.2) Borrowings (1,121.1) –
– (84.7) Other long-term liabilities (521.6) –
– (73.5) Deferred taxation (449.1) –
– (139.7) Trade and other payables (862.8) –
– (1.3) Taxation (7.8) –

– 683.0 Carrying value 4,203.9 –
– 276.3 Goodwill 1,700.4 –

– 959.3 Purchase consideration 5,904.3 –
– 48.4 Less: Cash and cash equivalents 297.7 –
– 419.4 Paid by issue of ordinary shares 2,580.5 –
– 23.2 Still to be paid by the issue of ordinary shares 143.0 –

– 468.3 Cash flow on acquisition 2,883.1 –
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1999 1999

Amounts Amounts
owed to Purchases Purchases owed to
related from related from related related 
parties parties parties parties

29 Related parties 

Related party transactions with fellow subsidiaries of the 

group are concluded on an arm's length basis. 

Details of material transactions with those related parties 

not dealt with elsewhere in the financial statements are 

summarised below:

– 28.6 AECI Limited – explosives and initiating systems 174.8 –

– 24.8 LTA Limited – mining services 151.5 –

– 18.3 Shaft Sinkers (Pty) Ltd – mining services 111.8 –

0.1 10.9 Boart Longyear Limited – mining services 66.9 0.9

– 5.8 Haggie Limited – mining equipment 35.2 0.2

1998 1999 1999 1998

US Dollars SA Rands

30 Commitments and contingencies 

Mining assets 

39.4 62.0 Contracted for 381.8 231.9 

163.5 906.0 Not contracted for 5,576.0 961.6 

202.9 968.0 Authorised by the directors 5,957.8 1,193.5 

Allocated for: 

Expansion of capacity 

5.6 305.3 – within one year 1,901.1 32.7 

137.9 631.4 – thereafter 3,864.2 811.1 

143.5 936.7 5,765.3 843.8 

Maintenance of capacity 

38.9 5.0 – within one year 30.9 228.5 

20.5 26.3 – thereafter 161.6 121.2 

59.4 31.3 192.5 349.7 

This expenditure will be financed from existing cash resources

and future cash flows. 

The group has given collateral security to certain banks in 

respect of mortgage loans advanced to employees under its home

ownership scheme amounting to: R8.0, $1.3 (1998: R9.2, $1.6)

31 Risk management activities

In the normal course of its operations, the group is exposed to gold price, currency, interest rate, liquidity and credit risks. In order to

manage these risks, the group may enter into transactions which make use of both on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments.

The group does not acquire, hold or issue derivative instruments for trading purposes. The group has developed a comprehensive risk

management process to facilitate, control and to monitor these risks. The board has approved this risk management process, inclusive

of documented treasury policies, counterpart limits, controlling and reporting structures.
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31 Risk management activities (continued)

Controlling risk in the group

The executive committee and the treasury committee are responsible for risk management activities within the group. The treasury

committee, chaired by an independent member of the AngloGold audit committee, comprising executive members and treasury executives,

reviews and recommends to the executive committee all treasury counterparts, limits, instruments and hedge strategies. The treasurer

is responsible for managing investment, gold price, currency and liquidity risk. Within the treasury function, there is an independent risk

function, which monitors adherence to treasury risk management policy, counterpart and dealer limits and provides regular and detailed

management reports.

Gold price and currency risk

Gold price risk arises from the risk of an adverse effect on current or future earnings resulting from fluctuations in the price of gold.

The gold market is predominately priced in US dollars which exposes the group to the risk that fluctuations in the SA rand/US dollar,

Brazilian real/US dollar and Australian dollar/US dollar exchange rate may also have an adverse effect on current or future earnings.

A number of products, including derivative instruments are used to manage well-defined gold price and foreign exchange risks, that

arise out of the group’s core business activities. Fixed and spot-deferred forward-sales contracts and call and put options are used by

the group to protect itself from downward fluctuations in the gold price. These instruments establish a minimum price for a portion

of future production while maintaining the ability to benefit from increases in the gold price for the majority of future gold production.

Net delta open hedge position as at 31 December 1999

The group had the following net forward-pricing commitments outstanding against future production. A portion of these sales consists

of US dollar-priced contracts which have been converted to rand prices at average annual forward rand values based on a spot

rand/dollar rate of R6.14 available on 31 December 1999. 

Table A: Summary: Net delta open hedge position as at 31 December 1999

12 Months ending Kilograms Forward price Forward price Ounces % Positions

31 December sold R/kg US$/oz sold (000) in US$

AngloGold 2000 111,117 64,862 325 3,572 45

2001 84,895 72,636 342 2,729 59

2002 69,156 78,307 347 2,223 56

2003 39,433 83,183 346 1,268 77

2004 25,838 88,490 344 831 80

January 2005 – December 2009 87,603 110,975 364 2,817 80

Total 418,042 81,517 343 13,440 62

12 Months ending Kilograms Forward price Forward price Ounces

31 December sold AU$/oz US$/oz sold (000)

Acacia 2000 37,384 465 302 1,202

2001 7,103 620 403 228

2002 11,922 625 406 383

2003 8,877 575 374 285

2004 3,110 550 358 100

January 2005 – December 2010 20,583 623 405 662

Total 88,979 549 357 2,860
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Table B: Summary: All open contracts in the group’s gold hedge position as at 31 December 1999

Year 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005-2009 Total

Dollar/Gold
Forward contracts
Amount (kg) 81,423 51,747 38,933 26,255 17,649 66,765 282,772
US$/oz $313 $327 $330 $337 $339 $351 $331

Put options purchased
Amount (kg) 12,519 3,110 3,110 1,866 1,866 22,471
US$/oz $294 $396 $407 $416 $433 $345
*Delta (kg) 4,073 2,703 2,577 1,459 1,436 12,248

Put options sold
Amount ( kg) 13,997 13,997
US$/oz $261 $261
*Delta (kg) 2,192 2,192

Call options purchased
Amount (kg) 45,955 1,555 47,510
US$/oz $326 $350 $326
*Delta (kg) 8,033 497 8,530

Call options sold
Amount (kg) 41,055 7,487 11,885 10,463 3,303 5,182 79,375
US$/oz $306 $362 $372 $371 $338 $349 $334
*Delta (kg) 17,246 1,935 3,720 3,994 1,884 3,321 32,100

Rand/Gold
Forward contracts
Amount (kg) 21,834 24,036 20,086 6,289 3,925 14,630 90,800
R/kg R71,340 R79,038 R84,198 R89,116 R92,969 R137,310 R89,017

Put options purchased
Amount (kg) 2,177 1,244 3,421
R/kg R68,435 R75,554 R71,024
*Delta (kg) 1,986 930 2,916

Call options purchased
Amount (kg) 14,777 14,777
R/kg R58,952 R58,952
*Delta (kg) 8,689 8,689

Call options sold
Amount (kg) 20,837 18,214 14,357 4,519 1,875 4,994 64,796
R/kg R68,386 R78,116 R87,002 R93,765 R93,602 R113,695 R81,237
*Delta (kg) 3,469 4,041 3,840 1,436 1,044 2,887 16,717

AU dollar/Gold
Forward contracts
Amount (kg) 38,413 7,285 12,597 9,953 3,110 36,391 107,749
AU$/oz AU$466 AU$621 AU$625 AU$588 AU$550 AU$650 AU$571

Call options purchased
Amount (kg) 10,575 4 121 6,687 6,998 36,391 64,772
AU$/oz AU$591 AU$717 AU$728 AU$700 AU$686 AU$679
*Delta (kg) 1,029 181 674 1,075 15,799 18,758
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Year 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005-2009 Total

Rand/Dollar (000)

Forward contracts

Amount (US$) 215,210 12,255 16,284 243,749

ZAR per US$ R6.67 R6.14 R6.48 R6.63

Put options purchased

Amount (US$) 95,000 95,000

ZAR per US$ R6.39 R6.39

*Delta (kg) 61,371 61,371

Put options sold

Amount (US$) 90,000 90,000

ZAR per US$ R6.18 R6.18

*Delta (kg) 47,911 47,911

Call options sold

Amount (US$) 158,000 30,670 33,450 8,000 230,120

ZAR per US$ R6.56 R6.57 R7.06 R6.94 R6.65

*Delta (kg) 50,800 15,587 16,414 5,452 88,253

* The delta position indicated above reflects the nominal amount of the option multiplied by the mathematical probability of the option being

exercised. This is calculated using the Black and Scholes option formula with the ruling market prices, together with interest rates and

volatilities as at 31 December 1999.

The mix of hedging instruments, the volume of production hedged and the tenor of the hedging book is continually reviewed in the light of

changes in operational forecasts, market conditions and the group’s hedging policy.

Forward sales contracts require the future delivery of gold at a specified price. A number of these contracts are spot-deferred to be used by

the group for delivery against production in a future period.

A put option gives the put buyer the right, but not the obligation, to sell gold to the put seller at a predetermined price on a

predetermined date.

A call option gives the call buyer the right, but not the obligation, to buy gold from the call seller at a predetermined price on a

predetermined date.

Net cash receipts received under the option hedging strategies for the year were R280.6 million, $45.9 million (1998: R220.1 million,

$40.1 million). 

Interest rate and liquidity risk

Fluctuations in interest rates impact on the value of short-term cash investments and financing activities, giving rise to interest rate risk.

In the ordinary course of business, the group receives cash from the proceeds of its gold sales and is required to fund working capital

requirements. This cash is managed to ensure surplus funds are invested in a manner to achieve market related returns while minimising

risks. The group is able to actively source financing at competitive rates.

Investment maturity profile

Group 1999

Currency Fixed rate investments/ Effective rate Floating rate investments/ Effective rate

Maturity date millions (borrowings) amount % (borrowings) amount %

Less than one year SA Rand 1,466 11.7 757 10.8

US$ 40 8.4 86 6.7

AU$ – – 8 3.8
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Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the risk that a counterpart may default or not meet its obligations timeously. The group minimises credit risk by
ensuring that credit risk is spread over a number of counterparts. These counterparts are financial and banking institutions of the highest
quality. Where possible, management tries to ensure that netting agreements are in place.

Trade debtors comprise a small group of international companies. No provision for doubtful debts was made as the principal debtors
continue to be in a sound financial position.

The group does not generally obtain collateral or other security to support financial instruments subject to credit risk, but monitors the credit
standing of counterparts. The group believes that no concentration of credit exists.

Fair value
The estimated fair values of financial instruments are determined at discrete points in time based on relevant market information. These
estimates involve uncertainties and cannot be determined with precision. The estimated fair values of the group’s financial instruments as
at 31 December are as follows:

1999 1998

SA Rands
Type of instrument Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Trade and other receivables 1,372 1,372 853 853
Cash and cash equivalents 3,031 3,031 1,492 1,492

– Cash and deposits on call 1,258 1,258 921 921
– Money market instruments 1,773 1,773 571 571

Long-term loans 4,181 4,181 745 745
Trade and other payables 2,209 2,209 1,418 1,418
Forward sale contracts – 1,204 – 1,231
Option contracts – 134 – (163)
Foreign exchange contracts – (25) – (162)
Foreign exchange option contracts – (25) – 11

1999 1998

US Dollars
Type of instrument Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Trade and other receivables 223 223 145 145
Cash and cash equivalents 493 493 254 254

– Cash and deposits on call 205 205 157 157
– Money market instruments 288 288 97 97

Long-term loans 679 679 127 127
Trade and other payables 359 359 241 241
Forward sale contracts – 196 – 209
Option contracts – 22 – (28)
Foreign exchange contracts – (4) – (28)
Foreign exchange option contracts – (4) – 2

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:

Trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other payables

The carrying amounts approximate fair value because of the short-term duration of these instruments.

Long-term loans

The existing debt re-prices on a short-term floating rate basis, and accordingly the carrying amount is considered to approximate fair value.

Derivative instruments

The fair values of forward sales contracts and derivative instruments are estimated based on the ruling market prices, volatilities and interest
rates at 31 December 1999.

29 Comparative figures
Where appropriate, comparative figures have been restated to facilitate improved disclosure.
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Company income statement
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

Turnover 1 11,663.2 12,108.3

Gold revenue 2 11,055.3 11,907.7

Cost of sales 3 8,747.4 9,540.3

Operating profit 2,307.9 2,367.4

Corporate administration and other expenses 149.2 226.8

Market development costs 90.6 55.2

Research and development costs 42.7 27.1

Royalties paid 636.7 606.6

Exploration costs 211.2 203.5

Profit from operations 1,177.5 1,248.2

Interest paid 85.3 17.6

Unwinding of decommissioning liability 14.7 13.8

Interest receivable 320.6 200.6

Income from associates 4 43.2 267.5

Dividends received 416.5 433.2

Loss on sale of mine shafts – (107.3)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 5 1,857.8 2,010.8

Taxation 7 (70.5) 422.7

Current taxation 362.9 614.8

Deferred taxation

– Current 26.5 (192.1)

– Rate change  (459.9) –

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 1,928.3 1,588.1

Profit on sale of associate 543.2 –

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,471.5 1,588.1

Notes 1999 1998

SA Rands
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Company balance sheet
at 31 December 1999
Figures in million

ASSETS 

Non-current assets

Mining assets 9 11,271.3 11,018.3

Investments in associates 10 79.4 811.2

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 5,794.8 2,118.2

Other investments 11 11.3 17.2

AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 12 220.0 191.4

Long-term loans  13 157.3 142.1

17,534.1 14,298.4

Current assets

Inventories 14 594.0 676.7

Trade and other receivables 15 810.7 734.3

Cash and cash equivalents 16 2,214.6 1,290.8

3,619.3 2,701.8

Total assets 21,153.4 17,000.2

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Share capital and premium 17 8,165.6 5,606.1

Non-distributable reserve 18 141.4 141.4

Retained earnings 1,830.9 1,418.3

Shareholders’ equity 10,137.9 7,165.8

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 19 930.4 12.9

Debentures 20 114.9 92.2

Provisions 21 1,449.6 1,380.0

Deferred taxation 22 3,915.4 4,311.9

6,410.3 5,797.0

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 1,478.7 1,145.5

Current portion of borrowings 19 3.6 4.3

Inter-group balances 1,617.6 1,858.2

Taxation 327.2 246.6

Dividends 1,178.1 782.8

4,605.2 4,037.4

Total equity and liabilities 21,153.4 17,000.2

Notes 1999 1998

SA Rands



Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

Cash flows from operating activities 

Cash generated from operations 25 1,828.3 2,007.2

Interest paid (85.3) (17.6)

Unwinding of decommissioning liability (14.7) (13.8)

Interest receivable 320.6 200.6

Dividends received from associates 32.9 26.3

Dividends received 416.5 433.2

Dividends paid (1,663.6) (1,414.3)

Mining and normal taxation paid (270.7) (474.7)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 564.0 746.9

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of mining assets (929.7) (943.8)

Transfers of mining assets 0.6 –

Proceeds from sale of mine shafts – 402.8

Investments acquired (4.4) (3.8)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (953.1) –

Proceeds from sale of investments 24.1 –

Proceeds from sale of associate 1,314.3 –

Net cash outflow from investing activities (548.2) (544.8)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from issue of share capital 21.3 2.9

Share issue expenses (42.3) (113.4)

Proceeds from borrowings 927.9 8.8

Repayment of borrowings (6.4) –

Repayment of loans advanced 7.5 25.9

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 908.0 (75.8)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 923.8 126.3

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,290.8 1,164.5

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,214.6 1,290.8

Notes 1999 1998

SA Rands
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Company statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

SA Rands

Balance as previously reported 49.9 5,614.7 – 1,208.6 6,873.2

Merger adjustments 25.4 70.7 96.1

Change in accounting policy 66.2 66.2

Restated balance at 31 December 1997 49.9 5,640.1 – 1,345.5 7,035.5

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 1,588.1 1,588.1

Dividends (note 8) (1,515.3) (1,515.3)

Shares issued 2.9 2.9

Share issue expenses written off (86.8) (86.8)

Transfer to non-distributable reserve (note 18) 141.4 141.4 

Balance at 31 December 1998 49.9 5,556.2 141.4 1,418.3 7,165.8 

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,471.5 2,471.5

Dividends (note 8) (2,058.9) (2,058.9)

Shares issued 4.4 2,597.4 2,601.8

Share issue expenses written off (42.3) (42.3)

Balance at 31 December 1999 54.3 8,111.3 141.4 1,830.9 10,137.9

Ordinary and Ordinary and Non-

preference preference distributable Retained

share capital share premium reserve earnings Total



Notes to the company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

1 Turnover
Turnover comprises the sale of mining products 
inclusive of gold, silver, uranium and sulphuric acid 11,663.2 12,108.3

2 Gold revenue
– Normal 11,001.0 11,559.7
– Accelerated hedge 54.3 348.0

11,055.3 11,907.7

3 Cost of sales 
Cash costs 7,891.7 8,030.0
Retrenchment costs 54.3 348.0
Rehabilitation and other non-cash costs 114.7 193.5

Production costs 8,060.7 8,571.5
Amortisation of mining assets 676.1 738.2

Total production costs 8,736.8 9,309.7
Inventory change 10.6 230.6

8,747.4 9,540.3

4 Income from associates
Gold revenue 150.2 523.1
Cost of sales 116.7 457.1

Profit from operations 33.5 66.0
Other operating income 9.7 201.5

Profit before taxation 43.2 267.5
Taxation (25.3) 20.9

– Normal taxation (note 7) 11.6 16.0
– Deferred taxation (note 7) (36.9) 4.9

Net profit after taxation 68.5 246.6

5 Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 
is arrived at after taking account of: 
Auditors’ remuneration 2.7 4.8

– Audit fees 2.7 3.7
– Other services – 1.1

Amortisation of mining assets (note 9) 676.1 738.1
Charge for post-retirement medical aid obligation (note 21) – 34.5
Charge for restoration provision (note 21) 54.9 41.0
Grants for educational and community development 5.2 4.8
Employee costs 4,723.9 4,647.5

– Salaries and wages 4,269.1 3,977.2
– Contribution to retirement benefits 352.8 286.9
– Post-retirement medical benefit costs 47.7 35.3
– Retrenchment payments 54.3 348.1

The average monthly number of employees, including contractors’ employees,
during the year was made up as follows: 82,645 93,091

– Surface 17,022 18,237
– Underground 65,623 74,854

1999 1998

SA Rands
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6 Directors’ emoluments 
Services as executive directors 6.7 5.8

– Fees – 0.2
– Salaries, benefits and other emoluments 5.4 4.7
– Bonuses 1.3 0.9

Services as non-executive directors 
– Fees 1.4 0.7

Total directors’ emoluments 8.1 6.5

Details of share options exercised by directors are set out in the directors’ report. 
Gain on sale of share options 0.8 0.7

7 Taxation
Current taxation 362.9 614.8

– Mining taxation 32.5 319.0
– Non-mining taxation 331.3 279.8
– Over provision prior years (12.5) –
– Share of associates taxation (note 4) 11.6 16.0

Deferred taxation (433.4) (192.1)

– Current 26.5 (197.0)
– Rate change (423.0) –
– Share of associates taxation (note 4) (36.9) 4.9

(70.5) 422.7

1999 1998
Non-mining Mining Non-mining Mining

Taxation reconciliation % % % %

A reconciliation of the mining and non-mining tax rate 
compared with that charged in the income statement is set 
out in the following table:

Marginal tax rate 38.0 46.0 42.0 51.0

Adjusted for hedge revenue 32.3 (23.2) 24.9 (18.5)
Disallowable expenditure 0.8 12.1 0.8 12.5
Write back of amortisation and inventory change – 26.3 – 20.7
Mining capital allowances – (34.8) – (17.8)
Mining tax formula adjustment – (12.1) – (7.2)
Dividend income (25.9) – (38.6) –
Royalties – (25.1) – (24.8)
Change in tax rate – (37.2) – –
Other 2.6 13.5 7.6 (4.5)

Effective tax rate 47.8 (34.5) 36.7 11.4

Income from gold mining is taxed according to a formula which varies the tax rate in accordance with the ratio of profit to revenue from
each mining operation. Taxable income from gold mining is determined after the deduction of mining capital expenditure.

The decrease in the overall effective tax rate results partly from a decrease in the nominal tax rate on non-mining income from 42% to
38% and from mining income from 51% to 46% and primarily due to the availability of mining capital expenditure for deduction from
mining income and the application of the gold formula.

The company has unredeemed capital expenditure estimated at R2,810.9 (1998: R2,520.1) which is available for set-off against future
taxable income from the mining operations of Joel mine.

Non-mining income is taxed at a rate of 38%.

In terms of the tax legislation the company has elected a tax regime where it is not required to pay Secondary Tax on Companies (STC)
on dividends declared. Notwithstanding this, if any of the company’s shareholders are themselves subject to STC, they are entitled to use
these dividends as a credit in the determination of their STC liabilities.

1999 1998

SA Rands



Notes to the company financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

8 Dividends 
Ordinary shares 
No. 86 of 900 (1998: 750) cents per ordinary share declared on 3 August 1999 
and paid on 23 September 1999. 880.8 732.5
No. 87 of 1,100 (1998: 800) cents per ordinary share declared on 9 February 2000 
and payable on 31 March 2000. 1,178.1 782.8

2,058.9 1,515.3

Mine Mineral rights, Decom-

develop- Mine infra- dumps and missioning

ment structure exploration assets Land Total

9 Mining assets

SA Rands
Cost
Balance at 31 December 1998 12,530.5 4,116.6 366.9 196.9 35.0 17,245.9
Additions 922.4 2.1 5.2 – – 929.7
Transfers, amounts written off and disposals 26.5 (1.8) – – – 24.7

Balance at 31 December 1999 13,479.4 4,116.9 372.1 196.9 35.0 18,200.3

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 31 December 1998 3,953.2 2,128.9 14.8 130.7 – 6,227.6
Amortisation charge for the year (note 5) 534.0 106.2 30.6 5.3 – 676.1
Transfers, amounts written off and disposals 25.3 – – – – 25.3

Balance at 31 December 1999 4,512.5 2,235.1 45.4 136.0 – 6,929.0

Net book value at 31 December 1998 8,577.3 1,987.7 352.1 66.2 35.0 11,018.3
Net book value at 31 December 1999 8,966.9 1,881.8 326.7 60.9 35.0 11,271.3

1999 1998

SA Rands
10 Investments in associates

Carrying value consists of: 
Shares at cost 8.8 520.3
Profit after taxation 70.6 317.2
Dividends – (26.3)

Carrying value  79.4 811.2

Market value of listed associate – 1,244.6
Directors’ value of unlisted associate 79.4 79.4

1999 1998

SA Rands
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11 Other investments
Listed investments 
Balance at 31 December 1998 0.6 0.6
Disposals (0.6) –

Balance at 31 December 1999 – 0.6

Market value of listed investments – 0.6

Unlisted investments 
Balance at 31 December 1998 16.6 14.5
Additions 4.4 3.8
Disposals (9.7) (1.7)

Balance at 31 December 1999 11.3 16.6

Directors’ value of unlisted investments 11.3 16.6

Total other investments 11.3 17.2

12 AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 
Balance at 31 December 1998 191.4 180.5
Work completed – (17.7)
Contributions 28.6 28.6

Balance at 31 December 1999 220.0 191.4

Market value of investments held in the AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 284.9 211.1

13 Long-term loans – unsecured 
Loan to AngloGold Limited Employee Share and Debenture Trust on which
interest is payable annually at the official interest rate per the seventh schedule 
of the Income Tax Act (note 20) 114.9 92.2
Other 42.4 49.9

157.3 142.1

14 Inventories 
At cost 
Gold in process 277.4 288.1
By-products 79.8 120.6

Total metal inventories 357.2 408.7
Consumable stores 236.8 268.0

594.0 676.7

15 Trade and other receivables 
Trade debtors 169.7 83.3
Prepayments and accrued income 39.0 155.5
South African Revenue Services – Value added taxation 121.3 158.6
Other debtors 480.7 336.9

810.7 734.3

16 Cash and cash equivalents 
Consist of cash on hand, balances with banks, deposits on call and short-term 
money market investments 2,214.6 1,290.8

1999 1998

SA Rands



Notes to the company financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

17 Share capital and premium 
Share capital
Authorised 
200,000,000 ordinary shares of 50 cents each 100.0 100.0
2,000,000 A redeemable preference shares of 50 cents each 1.0 1.0
5,000,000 B redeemable preference shares of 1 cent each 0.1 0.1

101.1 101.1

Issued 
106,614,678 (1998: 97,853,199) ordinary shares of 50 cents each 
Opening balance 48.9 48.9
Issue of shares 4.4 –

Closing balance 53.3 48.9

2,000,000 A redeemable preference shares of 50 cents each 1.0 1.0
778,896 B redeemable preference shares of 1 cent each – –

Closing balance 1.0 1.0

Share premium
Balance at 31 December 1998 5,556.2 5,640.1
Movement arising from issue of shares 2,597.4 2.9
Share issue expenses written off (42.3) (86.8)

Balance at 31 December 1999 8,111.3 5,556.2

Share capital and premium 8,165.6 5,606.1

18 Non-distributable reserve
Disposal of company shares held within the group 141.4 141.4

19 Borrowings 
Unsecured loans 
Dresdner Bank Luxembourg S.A. 923.2 –
Interest charged at libor plus 2% per annum. Loan is repayable after three years 
terminating in March 2002 

Loan from the Economic Development Corporation Limited 10.8 13.8
Interest charged at libor plus 0.6% per annum. Loan is repayable in six half-yearly instalments 
terminating in December 2002 

Other – 3.4

Total borrowings 934.0 17.2

Less: Current portion of borrowings included in current liabilities 3.6 4.3

Total long-term borrowings 930.4 12.9

Amounts falling due 
Between one and two years 3.6 7.9
Between two and five years 930.4 9.3

934.0 17.2

1999 1998

SA Rands
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20 Debentures 

Balance at 31 December 1998 92.2 –

Allocations during the year 33.4 92.2

Exercised during the year (10.7) –

Balance at 31 December 1999 (note 13) 114.9 92.2

487,500 (1998: 420,500) unsecured variable rate compulsory convertible debentures

issued in terms of the AngloGold Limited Share Incentive Scheme Interest on these debentures is 

payable annually at the official interest rate per the seventh schedule of the Income Tax Act. 

The terms and conditions of the debentures are detailed in the directors’ report. 

21 Provisions

Post-retirement medical aid obligation 

Balance at 31 December 1998 746.5 712.0

Charge to the income statement (note 5) – 34.5

Balance at 31 December 1999 746.5 746.5

Environmental rehabilitation obligations 

Provision for decommissioning 

Balance at 31 December 1998 210.7 196.9

Unwinding of decommissioning obligation 14.7 13.8

Balance at 31 December 1999 225.4 210.7

Provision for restoration 

Balance at 31 December 1998 422.8 381.8

Charge to income statement (note 5) 54.9 41.0

Balance at 31 December 1999 477.7 422.8

Total provisions 1,449.6 1,380.0

Future value of decommissioning obligation is estimated at: 1,004.5 1,004.5

The decommissioning obligation will be funded on the following basis:

The creation of the AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust. Annual contributions are 
made to the AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust to fund the estimated cost of 
rehabilitation during and at the end of the life of a mine.

Balance of AngloGold Environmental Rehabilitation Trust at 31 December 1999 220.0 191.4

1999 1998

SA Rands



Notes to the company financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

22 Deferred taxation 

Deferred taxation relating to temporary differences is made up as follows: 

Deferred taxation liabilities 

Mining assets 4,460.6 4,822.4

Inventories 120.6 136.8

Other 10.3 23.6

4,591.5 4,982.8

Deferred taxation assets 

Provisions 676.1 670.9

Net deferred taxation 3,915.4 4,311.9

The movement on the deferred tax balance is as follows: 

Balance at 31 December 1998 4,311.9 4,508.9

Income statement charge 26.5 (197.0)

Taxation rate change (423.0) –

Balance at 31 December 1999 3,915.4 4,311.9

23 Trade and other payables 

Trade creditors 323.5 496.5

Accruals 692.2 521.6

Other creditors 463.0 127.4

1,478.7 1,145.5

24 Retirement benefits 

The company has made provision for pension and provident schemes covering substantially all employees. Eligible employees are

members of either AngloGold’s defined benefit fund or one of the industry-based defined contribution funds. There is one defined benefit

scheme and three defined contribution schemes. The assets of these schemes are held in administered trust funds separated from the

group’s assets. Scheme assets primarily consist of listed shares, property trust units and fixed income securities. All funds are governed

by the Pension Funds Act of 1956.

The AngloGold Pension Fund, a defined benefit scheme, was formed in September 1998 when it was separated from the Anglo American

Group and the Anglo American Corporation Pension Funds. At the last evaluation of the relevant Anglo American Group Pension Funds

at January 1998 the scheme was certified by the reporting actuaries as being in a sound financial position, subject to the continuation

of their current contribution rates. In arriving at their conclusions, the actuaries took into account reasonable long-term

estimates of inflation, increases in wages, salaries and pensions and returns on investments. The last valuation of these funds, plus

the assets of the Anglo American Corporation Pension Fund transferred, showed a determined fair value of the combined assets of the

scheme of R420.9 which compares to the market value of R420.9. This was more than sufficient to cover the benefits that had accrued

to members, allowing for future increases in earnings, amounting to R441.7. The AngloGold Pension Fund will be evaluated in 2000 and

thereafter evaluations will take place at intervals of not more than three years using the projected benefit method.

Any deficits in the defined benefit scheme advised by the actuaries are funded either immediately or through increased contributions

to ensure the ongoing soundness of the scheme. Contributions to the various retirement schemes are fully expensed during the year in

which they are funded and the cost of providing retirement benefit for the year amounted to R352.8, (1998: R286.9).

1999 1998

SA Rands
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1999 1998

SA Rands

25 Cash generated from operations 

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation  1,857.8 2,010.8

Adjusted for: 

Non-cash movements 32.9 37.5

Amortisation of mining assets 676.1 738.2

Interest paid 85.3 17.6

Unwinding of decommissioning liability 14.7 13.8

Interest receivable (320.6) (200.6)

Income from associates (43.2) (267.5)

Dividends received (416.5) (433.2)

Profit on sale of investments (13.8) –

Loss on sale of mining assets – 107.3

Movements in working capital (44.4) (16.7)

1,828.3 2,007.2

Movements in working capital 

Decrease in inventories 82.7 282.5

Increase in trade and other receivables (76.4) (222.4)

Increase in trade and other payables 189.9 287.4

Decrease in inter group balances (240.6) (364.2)

(44.4) (16.7)

1999

Purchases Amounts

from related owed to 

parties related parties

26 Related parties

Related party transactions with fellow subsidiaries of the group are concluded on 

an arm's length basis. 

Details of material transactions with those related parties not dealt with elsewhere 

in the financial statements are summarised below:

AECI Limited – explosives and initiating systems 174.8 –

Shaft Sinkers (Pty) Ltd – mining services 111.8 –

Boart Longyear Limited – mining services 63.8 0.9

Haggie Limited – mining equipment 35.2 2.2



Notes to the company financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 1999
Figures in million

27 Commitments and contingencies 

Mining assets 

Contracted for 331.2 231.9

Not contracted for 5,236.9 961.6

Authorised by the directors 5,568.1 1,193.5

Allocated for: 

Expansion of capacity 

– within one year 1,132.5 32.7

– thereafter 4,355.0 811.1

5,487.5 843.8

Maintenance of capacity 

– within one year 10.1 228.5

– thereafter 70.5 121.2

80.6 349.7

This expenditure will be financed from existing cash resources and future cash flows. 

There is a contingent liability arising from an agreement with Nuclear Fuels Corporation of 

South Africa (Proprietary) Limited (NUFCOR) whereunder the company has a liability to ensure that 

certain sales commitments of NUFCOR are met in the event of other shareholders 

of NUFCOR failing to meet their obligations. 

The company has given collateral security to certain banks in respect of mortgage loans 

advanced to employees under its home ownership scheme amounting to: R8.0 (1998: R9.2).

28 Comparative figures

Where appropriate, comparative figures have been restated to facilitate improved disclosure.

1999 1998

SA Rands
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Investment in subsidiaries and joint venture interests

Nature of Holding company
business Shares held Percentage held Book value current accounts

1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998 

% % R R R R 

Direct investments

Advanced Mining Software Limited C 40,000 40,000 100 100 1.9 1.9 0.7 –

AngloGold American Investments Limited1 B 1 – 100 100 927.8 – (60.6) –

AngloGold Health Services (Pty) Limited G 8 8 100 100 – – 100.0 100.0

AngloGold Offshore Investments Limited1 B 5,000,000 5,000,000 100 100 1,180.4 1,180.4 (1,062.6) (879.3)

Eastvaal Gold Holdings Limited B 454,464,000 454,464,000 100 100 916.9 916.9 (603.8) (917.6)

Inter-Mine Services OFS (Pty) Limited F 2,800 2,800 100 100 – – – –

Nuclear Fuels Corporation of SA (Pty) Ltd E 1,450,000 1,229,310 100 84.8 6.8 – 77.3 –

Nufcor International Limited10 E 3,000,000 – 50 – 18.5 – – –

Southvaal Holdings Limited B 26,000,000 26,000,000 100 100 3.4 3.4 (76.9) (161.3)

Stone and Allied Industries (O.F.S.) Limited D 400,000  400,000 92.9 92.9 15.6 15.6 (3,3) –

Indirect investments

Acacia Resources Limited8 B 257,462,077 100 2,723.5 – 11.6 –

AngloGold Brasil Ltda 7 B 8,827,437,875 100 – –

AngloGold (Colorado) Corporation5 B 10,000 100 – –

AngloGold (Jerritt Canyon) Corporation5 B 1,000 100 – –

AngloGold Argentina Limited1 B 1 100 – –

AngloGold Australia Investment 

Holdings Limited1 B 1,000 100 – –

AngloGold Brazil Limited1 B 1 100 – –

AngloGold Finance Australia ApS9 B 125,000 100 – –

AngloGold Investments Australia Pty Ltd8 B 1 100 – –

AngloGold Mining (West Africa) Limited2 B 5,000 5,000 100 100 – – – –

AngloGold North America Inc.5 B 7,902 100 – –

AngloGold North American 

Holdings Limited1 B 1 100 – –

AngloGold South America Limited1 B 750,000 100 – –

AngloGold South American 

Holdings Limited1 B 1 100 – –

AngloGold USA Incorporated5 B 100 100 – –

Cerro Vanguardia S.A.6 A 13,050,000 46.3 – –

Chellaston Limited1 B 2 100 – –

Dysart International Limited1 B 2 100 – –

Erongo Holdings Limited1 B 13,334‘A’ 13,334‘A’ 100 100 – – – –

Erongo Mining and Exploration 

Company Limited3 B 10,000 10,000 100 100 – – – –

Mineração Morro Velho Ltda7 A 4,585,851,748 100 – –

Mineração Serra Grande S.A.7 A 23,636,997 50 – –

Minorco Argentina S.A.6 B 1,331,093 100 – –

Quorum International Limited1 B 2 100 – –

Société d'Exploitation des Mines 

d'OR de Sadiola S.A.4 A 38,000 38,000 38 38 – – – –

5,794.8 2,118.2 (1,617.6) (1,858.2)

All companies are incorporated in the Republic of South Africa 
except where otherwise indicated
1 Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
2 Incorporated in the Isle of Man
3 Incorporated in Namibia
4 Incorporated in Mali
5 Incorporated in the United States of America
6 Incorporated in Argentina
7 Incorporated in Brazil
8 Incorporated in Australia
9 Incorporated in Denmark

10 Incorporated in the United Kingdom

Nature of business
A – Mining D – Stone crusher
B – Investment holding E – Market agent
C – Software development F – Mines service provider

G – Healthcare



Shareholders’ information

Analysis of ordinary shareholders as at 17 February 2000
The primary listing of the company’s ordinary shares is on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. Its ordinary shares are also listed on the
London Stock Exchange and Paris Bourse as well as being quoted in Brussels in the form of International Depositary Receipts (IDRs) and in
New York in the form of American Depositary Shares (ADSs). 9,010,388 ordinary shares are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange in the
form of Clearing House Electronic Subregister System Units of Foreign Securities (CUFS).

Shareholder classification

Other 
Insurance Pension Nominee corporate

Shareholdings Individuals companies funds companies bodies Total

1 to 1,000 Holders 28,513 9 7 509 1,363 30,401
Shares 1,584,243 3,991 1,725 83,109 255,669 1,928,737

1,001 to 5,000 Holders 231 – 5 74 99 409
Shares 417,035 – 15,657 171,451 215,293 819,436

5,001 to 10,000 Holders 7 – 1 20 23 51
Shares 49,467 – 6,700 141,634 157,613 355,414

10,001 to 100,000 Holders 6 – 2 29 31 68
Shares 113,942 – 72,049 1,002,356 966,410 2,154,757

Over 100,000 Holders 2 – – 17 13 32
Shares 685,789 – – 36,893,117 64,140,337 101,719,243

Total Holders 28,759 9 15 649 1,529 30,961
% 93 – – 2 5 100

Shares 2,850,476 3,991 96,131 38,291,667 65,735,322 106,977,587
% 3 – – 36 61 100

A total of 24,759 shareholders, representing 523,284 shares, held less than 100 shares each.

Stock exchange information
1999 1998 

Johannesburg Stock Exchange
Rands per share:
Market price – high 428.00 361.60

– low 225.00 167.40
– year end 316.60 229.20

Shares traded – 000 31,787 18,251

London Stock Exchange
Pounds per share:
Market price – high 35.35 35.35 

– low 18.43 20.09 
– year end 25.85 23.42 

Shares traded – 000 3,312 12,206

Paris Bourse
Euro per share (1999):
French francs per share (1998):
Market price – high 68.60 338.80

– low 33.23 189.90
– year end 50.90 221.10

Shares traded – 000 1,412 1,437

Brussels Bourse
Euro per share (1999):
Belgian francs per share (1998):
Market price – high 68.20 2,060.00

– low 33.50 1,150.00
– year end 50.85 1,398.00

IDRs traded – 000 2,635 2,273

New York Stock Exchange (listing commenced 5 August 1998)
US dollars per ADS:
Market price – high 37.00 31.00

– low 18.31 16.00
– year end 25.69 19.56

ADSs traded – 000 41,355 14,213
Each ADS represents one-half of an ordinary share in the company

Australian Stock Exchange (listing commenced 15 November 1999)
Australian dollars per share:
Market price – high 89.00 – 

– low 71.00 – 
– year end 76.50 – 

Shares traded – 000 487 – 
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Twenty largest shareholders as at 17 February 2000

According to the register of members, the following are the 20 largest holders of the ordinary share capital of the company:

Ordinary shares held

Number %

Anglo American plc and its subsidiaries 53,691,302 50.19

Standard Bank Nominees (Transvaal) (Pty) Ltd 25,041,162 23.41

First National Nominees (Pty) Ltd 5,311,763 4.97

De Beers Holdings (Pty) Ltd 3,551,285 3.32

Nedcor Bank Nominees Ltd 2,817,644 2.63

ANZ Nominees Ltd 2,643,744 2.47

Société Generale Nominees (Pty) Ltd 1,887,191 1.76

National Nominees (Pty) Ltd 1,476,288 1.38

C M B Nominees (Pty) Ltd 1,011,535 0.95

ABSA Nominees (Pty) Ltd 871,129 0.81

Indo-China Nominees (Pty) Ltd 794,805 0.74

Société Interprofessionnell Pour La Compensation Des Valeurs Mobilieres a/c Sicovam 685,789 0.64

Chase Nominees Services Incorporation 606,947 0.57

C M B Nominee Services Incorporated 588,000 0.55

Westpac Custodian Nominees 315,706 0.30

Capricorn Trustees Ltd 296,503 0.28

Chase Manhattan Nominees 183,124 0.17

Ferbros Nominees (Pty) Ltd 174,223 0.16

J R Nominees (Pty) Ltd 146,934 0.14

Chalkton Nominee Company (Pty) Ltd 126,012 0.12

Shareholder spread as at 17 February 2000

Pursuant to the Listings Requirements of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange, with the best knowledge of the directors and after reasonable

enquiry, the spread of shareholders was as follows:

Number of Ordinary shares

holders held %

Non-public shareholders:

Directors 9 0.48 

Shares held by Anglo American plc and its subsidiaries 6 50.19 

Public shareholders 30,946 49.33 

30,961 100.00



Shareholders’ information (continued)

Major shareholders as at 17 February 2000

According to information available to the directors, the following are the only shareholders beneficially holding, directly or indirectly, in excess

of 5 per cent of the ordinary share capital of the company:

Ordinary shares held

Number %

Anglo American plc and its subsidiaries 53,691,302 50.19

The Bank of New York* 13,700,898 12.81

* Shares held through various custodians in respect of ADSs issued by the Bank.

Voting rights
The articles of association provide that every member present at a meeting in person or, in the case of a body corporate, represented, is

entitled to one vote only on a show of hands. Upon a poll members present or any duly appointed proxy have one vote for every share held.

There are no limitations on the right of non-South African shareholders to hold or exercise voting rights attaching to any shares in the

company. CUFS holders are not entitled to vote in person at meetings, but may vote by way of proxy. 

Debentures and options do not carry a right to vote until the debenture has been converted or the option exercised and ordinary shares allotted.
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Diary

Financial year end 31 December

Annual financial statements Issued 29 March 2000

Annual general meeting 25 May 2000

Quarterly reports Issued 28 April 2000

27 July 2000

27 October 2000

25 January 2001

Dividends

Payable to Payable to

Declared registered shareholders ADS holders*

Interim 26 July 2000 22 September 2000 2 October 2000

Final 24 January 2000 30 March 2001 9 April 2001

* Approximate dates

Currency conversion guide
At 31 December one rand was equal to:

1999 1998 

Australian dollar 0.25 0.28

Belgian franc 6.51 5.85 

Euro 0.16 0.15 

French franc 1.01 0.95 

German mark 0.32 0.28 

Japanese yen 18.66 19.30 

Swiss franc 0.26 0.23 

UK pound 0.10 0.10 

US dollar 0.16 0.17 
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Notice to members

Notice is hereby given that the 56th annual general meeting of

members of AngloGold Limited will be held at The Johannesburg

Country Club, Napier Road, Auckland Park, Johannesburg, on

Thursday, 25 May 2000, at 13:00 for the following business:

1. To receive and consider the annual financial statements for

the year ended 31 December 1999.

2. To re-elect directors in accordance with the provisions of the

company’s Articles of Association.

3. To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without

modification, the following ordinary resolution: 

"That subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 1973, as

amended, and the Listings Requirements of the Johannesburg

Stock Exchange, the directors are hereby authorised to allot

and issue in their discretion all the remaining authorised but

unissued ordinary share capital of the company for such

purposes as they may determine, after setting aside so many

shares as may be required to be allotted and issued by the

company pursuant to the share incentive scheme."

4. To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without

modification, the following ordinary resolution: 

"That in terms of the Listings Requirements of the

Johannesburg Stock Exchange, the directors are hereby

authorised to issue the unissued ordinary shares of

50 cents each (after setting aside so many shares as may

be required to be allotted and issued by the company

pursuant to the share incentive scheme) for cash,

without restrictions as to whom the shares will be issued,

as and when suitable opportunities arise, subject to the

following conditions:

(a) that this authority shall only be valid until the next annual

general meeting but shall not extend beyond 15 months

from the date set down for the 56th annual general

meeting;

(b) that a paid press announcement giving full details,

including the impact on net asset value and earnings per

share, will be published at the time of any issue

representing, on a cumulative basis within one year, 5 per

cent or more of the number of shares in issue prior to the

issue(s);

(c) that the issues in the aggregate in any one year shall

not exceed 10 per cent of the number of shares of the

company’s issued ordinary share capital; provided further

that such issues shall not in aggregate in any three-year

period, commencing on the first day of the financial year,

exceed 15 per cent of the company’s issued ordinary

share capital; and

(d) that, in determining the price at which an issue of shares

will be made in terms of this authority, the maximum

discount permitted shall be 10 per cent of the average

closing price on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange of

the ordinary shares, adjusted for any dividend declared

but not yet paid or for any capitalisation award made to

shareholders, as determined over the 30 days prior to

either the date of the paid press announcement or, where

no announcement is required and none has been made,

the date of issue of the shares."

As more than 35 per cent of the company’s issued capital is

in the hands of the public, as defined by the JSE, the approval

of a 75 per cent majority of the votes cast by shareholders

present or represented by proxy at the meeting is required

for this ordinary resolution to become effective.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint

one or more proxies to attend, speak and, on a poll, vote in his/her

stead. A proxy need not be a member of the company. A form of

proxy accompanies this report.

By order of the board

R N Duffy

Managing secretary

Johannesburg

29 March 2000

Registered and Corporate office

11 Diagonal Street

Johannesburg

2001

South Africa
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Administration

Registered and Corporate office

Managing Secretary

R N Duffy

Company Secretary

C R Bull

11 Diagonal Street

Johannesburg 2001

(PO Box 62117, Marshalltown 2107)

South Africa

Telephone: +27 11 637 6000

Facsimile: +27 11 637 6108

Transfer secretaries

Computershare Services Limited

2nd Floor, Edura 41 Fox Street

Johannesburg 2001

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107)

South Africa

Telephone: +27 11 370 7700

Facsimile: +27 11 836 0792

United Kingdom registrar

Computershare Services PLC

PO Box 82

The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road

Bristol BS99 7NH

England

Telephone: +44 870 703 6021

Facsimile: +44 870 703 6116

United Kingdom secretaries

St James's Corporate Services Limited

6 St James's Place

London SW1A 1NP England

Telephone: +44 20 7499 3916

Facsimile: +44 20 7491 1989

Authorised representative

United States of America

Puglisi & Associates

850 Library Avenue, Suite 204

PO Box 885

Newark, Delaware 19715

United States of America

Telephone: +1 302 738 6680

Facsimile: +1 302 738 7210

ADS Depositary

The Bank of New York

101 Barclay Street

New York, NY 10286

United States of America

Telephone: +1 212 815 2711

Facsimile: +1 212 571 3050

Australian office

Level 11, 60 City Road

Southbank, Victoria 3006

Australia

Telephone: +61 3 9684 4999

Facsimile: +61 3 9696 9977

Australian share registry

Computershare Registry Services Pty Limited

Level 12, 565 Bourke Street

Melbourne, Victoria 3000

(GPO Box 2975EE Melbourne, 

Victoria 3001)

Australia

Telephone: +61 3 9611 5711

Facsimile: +61 3 9611 5710



Contact details

Comments and questions about AngloGold are welcome and
should be directed to:

In South Africa:

Steve Lenahan (Investor Relations)
11 Diagonal Street
Johannesburg 2001
(PO Box 62117, Marshalltown 2107)
South Africa
Telephone: +27 11 637 6248
Facsimile: +27 11 637 6107
E-mail: slenahan@anglogold.com

James Duncan (Media)
11 Diagonal Street
Johannesburg 2001
(PO Box 62117, Marshalltown 2107)
South Africa
Telephone: +27 11 637 6147
Facsimile: +27 11 637 6399/6400
E-mail: jduncan@anglogold.com

In the United Kingdom:

Alex Buck
4th Floor, 12 St James's Square
London SW1Y 4RB
England
Telephone: +44 20 7849 5630
Facsimile: +44 20 7849 6137

E-mail: abuck@anglogold.com

In the United States of America:

Charles Carter
509 Madison Avenue
Suite 1914
New York, NY 10022
United States of America
Telephone: 800 417 9255 (toll-free in the USA)
Telephone: +1 212 750 7999
Facsimile: +1 212 750 5626
E-mail: ccarter@anglogold.com

In Australia:

Andrea Maxey
Level 11, 60 City Road
Southbank, Victoria 3006
Telephone: +61 3 9684 4920
Facsimile: +61 3 9684 4951
E-mail: amaxey@anglogold.com

General e-mail enquiries should be directed to:
investors@anglogold.com

Information on AngloGold can also be accessed at:
http://www.anglogold.com

Global BuyDIRECTSM

The Bank of New York maintains a Global BuyDIRECTSM Plan for AngloGold.
For additional information, please visit The Bank of New York’s website at www.globalbuydirect.com or 

call Shareholder Relations at 1-888-BNY-ADRS or write to:
The Bank of New York

Shareholder Relations Department – Global BuyDIRECTSM

Church Street Station
PO Box 11258

New York, NY 10286-1258
United States of America

In addition to this Annual Report, AngloGold has produced the Form 20-F (a report required by the Securities and Exchange Commission in the
United States). Both documents are available:

– In printed format from the investor relations contacts whose details appear above.

– On the Internet at the abovementioned website address.

Supplementary information on mineral resources as well as development and financial statistics, prepared on a business unit basis, are obtain-
able from the above sources. Plans of underground workings are also available on request.



ANGLOGOLD LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration No. 05/17354/06)
(the company)

Proxy Form
For completion by members unable to attend the annual general meeting to be held at The Johannesburg Country
Club, Napier Road, Auckland Park, Johannesburg, at 13:00 on Thursday, 25 May 2000.

I/We  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (Name in BLOCK LETTERS)

of . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (Address in BLOCK LETTERS)

being a member(s) of the above company:

do hereby appoint . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . of. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

or, failing him/her,. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . of. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

or, failing him/her, the chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to attend, speak and, on a poll, vote on my/our
behalf at the annual general meeting of members to be held at 13:00 on Thursday, 25 May 2000 and at any
adjournment thereof, and to vote or abstain from voting as follows on the resolutions to be proposed at such
meeting:

For Against Abstain

1. Adoption of 1999 audited annual financial
statements

2. Re-election of directors

3. Directors’ control of the balance of the 
unissued ordinary shares

4. Entitlement of directors to issue the balance of
the unissued ordinary shares for cash

A member entitled to attend and vote at the abovementioned meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to
attend, speak and, on a poll, vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the company.

Every person present and entitled to vote at the annual general meeting as a member or as a representative of a
body corporate shall on a show of hands have one vote only, irrespective of the number of shares such person
holds or represents, but in the event of a poll, every share shall have one vote.

Please indicate with an ‘X’ in the appropriate spaces above how you wish your votes to be cast. 

Signed at . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . on. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2000

Signature . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.

This proxy form is not for use by holders of American Depositary Shares issued by The Bank of New York



1. A signatory/signatories to the proxy form may

insert the name of a proxy or the name of an

alternative proxy of the signatory’s/signatories’

choice in the blank spaces provided with or

without deleting ‘the chairman of the meeting’,

but any such deletion must be initialled by the

signatory/signatories. Any insertion or deletion

not complying with the aforegoing will be

deemed not to have been validly effected.

The person present at the meeting whose name

appears first on the list of names overleaf, shall

be the validly appointed proxy for the member

at the meeting.

2. A member’s instructions to the proxy must be

indicated in the appropriate spaces provided.

A member or the proxy is not obliged to use all

the votes exercisable by the member or by the

proxy or to cast all those votes in the same

way, but the total of votes cast, and in respect

whereof abstention is directed, may not exceed

the total of the votes exercisable by the

member or the proxy. Failure to comply with

the above or to provide voting instructions or

the giving of contradictory instructions will be

deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or

abstain from voting at the meeting as he/she

deems fit in respect of all the member’s votes

exercisable at that meeting.

3. Any alteration or correction made to this

proxy form must be initialled by the

signatory/signatories.

4. Documentary evidence establishing the

authority of a person signing this proxy form in

a representative capacity must be attached to

this proxy form unless previously recorded by

the South African Transfer Secretaries or the

United Kingdom Registrar or the Australian

Share Registry.

5. When there are joint holders of shares, any one

holder may sign the proxy form.

6. The completion and lodging of this proxy form

will not preclude the member who grants the

proxy from attending the meeting and speaking

and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of

any proxy appointed in terms hereof should

such member wish to do so.

7. Completed proxy forms should be returned to

one of the undermentioned addresses by no

later than 13:00 local time (in the country

concerned) on Tuesday, 23 May 2000. Proxy

forms may also be handed to the chairman of

the meeting up to not later than ten minutes

before the commencement of the meeting.

Computershare Services Limited

2nd Floor, Edura, 41 Fox Street

Johannesburg 2001

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107)

South Africa

Computershare Services PLC

PO Box 82

The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road

Bristol BS99 7NH

England

Computershare Registry Services Pty Limited

Level 12, 535 Bourke Street

Melbourne, Victoria 3000

(GPO Box 2975EE Melbourne,

Victoria 3001)

Australia


